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PART | - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We refer to Highwoods Properties, Inc. as the “Canyy’ Highwoods Realty Limited Partnership as ti@pérating Partnership.the
Company’s common stock as “Common Stock” or “ComrBbiares,” the Company’s preferred stock as “Prefe8tock” or “Preferred Shares,”
the Operating Partnership’s common partnershipreéste as “Common Units,” the Operating Partnershigreferred partnership interests
“Preferred Units” and irservice properties (excluding rental residentidts)rto which the Company and/or the Operating ieaghip have titl
and 100.0% ownership rights as the “Wholly Ownegjprties.” References to “we” and “ourfean the Company and the Operating Partne
collectively, unless the context indicates otheewis

The partnership agreement provides that the Opgr&artnership will assume and pay when due, orheise the Company for payment
all costs and expenses relating to the ownershibogrerations of, or for the benefit of, the OpemgtPartnership. The partnership agreel
further provides that all expenses of the Compaaydaemed to be incurred for the benefit of ther@jreg Partnership.

Certain information contained herein is presentefOctober 21, 2010, the latest practicable qaiker to the filing of this Quarter
Report.




(Table of Contents)

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Unaudited and in thousands, except share anchpee amounts)

September 30 December 31

2010 2009
Assets:
Real estate assets, at c(
Land $ 345,53. $ 350,53
Buildings and tenant improvemer 2,900,74! 2,880,63:
Land held for development 104,01( 104,14¢
3,350,29 3,335,31
Less-accumulated depreciatic (818,34) (781,079
Net real estate ass¢ 2,531,94. 2,554,24.
For-sale residential condominiur 9,57¢ 12,93:
Real estate and other assets, net, held fol 1,24¢ 5,031
Cash and cash equivalel 20,96¢ 23,69¢
Restricted cas 4,757 6,841
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $3,157 $2@810, respectivel 22,42¢ 21,06¢
Mortgages and notes receivable, net of allowan960 and $698, respective 19,94: 3,14:
Accrued straigt-line rents receivable, net of allowance of $2,46d $2,443, respectivel 90,00: 82,60(
Investment in unconsolidated affiliat 62,45¢ 66,077
Deferred financing and leasing costs, net of acdatad amortization of $55,143 and $52,129,
respectively 75,06¢ 73,517
Prepaid expenses and other as 39,79¢ 37,94
Total Assets $ 2,878,18‘ $ 2,887,10
Liabilities, Noncontrolling Interests in the Operating Partnership and Equity:
Mortgages and notes payal $ 1,501,62. $ 1,469,15!
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheiitiied 112,73t 117,32¢
Financing obligation 33,62t 37,70¢
Total Liabilities 1,647,98 1,624,18!
Commitments and contingenci
Noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnigr: 123,29: 129,76¢
Equity:
Preferred Stock, $.01 par value, 50,000,000 autbdrshares
8.625% Series A Cumulative Redeemable PreferredeStiiquidatiorpreference $1,000 g
share), 29,092 shares issued and outstar 29,09: 29,09:
8.000% Series B Cumulative Redeemable PreferreteSliiliquidation preference $25 per
share), 2,100,000 shares issued and outstal 52,50( 52,50(
Common Stock, $.01 par value, 200,000,000 authdshares
71,656,232 and 71,285,303 shares issued and aditsganespectivel’ 717 713
Additional paic-in capital 1,762,96! 1,751,39:i
Distributions in excess of net income availabledommon stockholdel (740,35¢) (701,93)
Accumulated other comprehensive I (2,979 (3,811
Total Stockholdel Equity 1,101,94 1,127,96!
Noncontrolling interests in consolidated affilia 4,95¢ 5,18¢
Total Equity 1,106,90 1,133,14.
Total Liabilities, Noncontrolling Interests in tli@perating Partnership and
Equity 2,878,18 $ 2,887,10:

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanasstents.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(Unaudited and in thousands, except per share asjoun

Rental and other revenues
Operating expenses
Rental property and other expen
Depreciation and amortizatic
General and administrati\
Total operating expens:
Interest expense:
Contractua
Amortization of deferred financing cos

Financing obligation

Other income:
Interest and other incon

Gain/(loss) on debt extinguishme

Income from continuing operations before dispositia of property,
condominiums and investment in unconsolidated affiites and equity in
earnings of unconsolidated affiliates
Gains on disposition of proper
Gains on disposition of f-sale residential condominiur
Gains on disposition of investment in unconsolidaéiliates
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia

Income from continuing

operations

Discontinued operations:

Income from discontinued operatic
Net gains/(losses) on disposition of discontinupdrations

Net income
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling intdeeim the Operating
Partnershi
Net (income)/loss attributable to noncontrollingeirests in consolidated
affiliates

Dividends on Preferred Stoi

Net income available for common stockholder

Earnings per Common Share- basic:
Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholder
Income from discontinued operations available finmon stockholder
Net income available for common stockhold
Weighted average Common Shares outstar- basic

Earnings per Common Share- diluted:
Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholder

Income from discontinued operations available fanmon stockholder
Net income available for common stockhold
Weighted average Common Shares outstan- diluted

Dividends declared per Common Shart

Net income available for common stockholders
Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholder
Income from discontinued operations available fanmon stockholder

Net income available for common stockhold

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsgstents.

Three Months Ended

Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009

$ 116,060 $ 113,17( $ 34545t $ 337,44
43,50¢ 42,56¢ 123,54 121,741
34,28: 32,367 100,36 97,59(
8,88: 9,48¢ 24,36¢ 27,28¢
86,66¢ 84,41¢ 248,27t 246,61
22,02( 20,001 65,527 60,52¢
85¢ 627 2,52¢ 1,97¢
46C 70€ 1,33( 2,151
23,33¢ 21,33¢ 69,38t 64,65¢
1,71C 3,324 4,37¢ 6,61F
(85) 657 (85) 1,281
1,62¢ 3,981 4,291 7,902
7,68 11,401 32,08¢ 34,07«
19 34 55 247
54 187 407 82¢
— — 25,33( —
1,01¢ 682 2,701 3,844
8,77: 12,30¢ 60,57¢ 38,98¢
— 64€ 411 3,22(
— (377 (86) 20,63¢
— 26¢ 32E 23,85¢
8,77: 12,57 60,90« 62,84
(36€) (59)) (2,819 (3,339
14¢ (24) (28)) (15¢)
(1,677 (1,677% (5,037 (5,039
$ 6,87¢ $ 10,281 $ 52,77 $ 54,31¢
$ 0.1C $ 0.1t $ 0.74 $ 0.47
— — — 0.34
$ 0.1C $ 0.1t $ 0.74 $ 0.81
71,63: 70,90 71,54¢ 66,91:
$ 0.1C $ 0.14 $ 0.74 $ 0.47
— — — 0.34
$ 0.1C $ 0.14 $ 0.74 $ 0.81
75,63¢ 75,072 75,537 71,02«
$ 0.42% $ 0.42F $ 127t $ 1.27¢
$ 6,87¢ $ 10,027 $ 52,46¢ $ 31,85!
— 254 30¢ 22,46¢
$ 6,87¢ $ 10,281 $ 52,77: $ 54,31¢
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2010 and 2009

(Unaudited and in thousands, except share amounts)

Distributions

Series A Series B Non- in Excess of

Number Cumulative Cumulative Accumulated Controlling Net Income

of Redeemabli Redeemabli Additional Other Interests in Available for
Common Common Preferred Preferred Paid-In  Comprehensive Consolidatec Common

Shares  Stock Shares Shares Capital Loss Affiliates  Stockholders

Total

Balance at

December 31, 20 71,285,30 $ 715$ 29,092 % 52,50($ 1,751,39:$ (3,81)% 5,18:$ (701,93)% 1,133,14

Issuances of

Common Stock,

net 112,81! 1 — — 2,07t — — —
Conversion of

Common Units tc

Common Stocl 93,97: 1 — — 2,957 — — —
Dividends on

Common Stocl — — — — — — — (91,197
Dividends on

Preferred Stoc — — — — — — — (5,03))
Adjustment of

noncontrolling

interests in the

Operating

Partnership to fai

value — — — — 1,48( — — —
Distributions to

noncontrolling

interests in

consolidated

affiliates — — — — — — (50€) —
Issuances of

restricted stock,

net 164,14 — — — — — — —
Share-based

compensation

expense — 2 — — 5,05¢ — — —
Net (income

attributable to

noncontrolling

interests in the

Operating

Partnershiy — — — — — — — (2,819
Net (income

attributable to

noncontrolling

interests in

consolidated

affiliates — — — — — — 281 (281)
Comprehensive

income:

Net income — — — — — — — 60,90+

Other

comprehensive
income — — — — — 83¢€ — —

Total

comprehensive

income

2,07¢

2,95¢
(91,197

(5,032

1,48(

(50€)

5,06(

(2,819)

60,90«

83¢€

61,74(

Balance a



September 30, 201 71.656,23$ _ 717$  29.09:$  52,50($ 1,762,96$ (2,975% 4,95¢$  (740,356$ 1,106,90-

Distributions

Series A Series B Non- in Excess of
Number Cumulative Cumulative Accumulated Controlling Net Income
of Redeemabl  Redeemabli Additional Other Interests in Available for
Common Common Preferred Preferred Paid-In  Comprehensive Consolidatec Common
Shares  Stock Shares Shares Capital Loss Affiliates  Stockholders Total
Balance at
December 31, 2(63,571,70. $ 63€$ 29,09 % 52,50($ 1,616,09:% (4,799% 6,17¢$ (639,28)% 1,060,42.

Issuances of

Common Stock,

net 7,156,20: 72 — — 147,23¢ — — — 147,31(
Conversion of

Common Units tc

Common Stocl 101,93¢ 1 — — 3,24( — — — 3,241
Dividends on

Common Stocl — — — — — — — (84,227) (84,22))
Dividends on

Preferred Stoc — — — — — — — (5,037) (5,03))

Adjustment of

noncontrolling

interests in the

Operating

Partnership to fa

value — — — — (18,497 — — — (18,497
Distributions to

noncontrolling

interests in

consolidated

affiliates — — — — — — (79€) — (79€)
Issuances of

restricted stock,

net 240,74( — — — — — — — —
Share-based

compensation

expense — 2 — — 5,20z — — — 5,20¢
Net (income]

attributable to

noncontrolling

interests in the

Operating

Partnershig — — — — — — — (3,339 (3,339
Net (income]

attributable to

noncontrolling

interests in

consolidated

affiliates — — — — — — 15¢ (15€) —
Comprehensive

income:

Net income — — — — — — — 62,84 62,84

Other

comprehensive
income — — — — — 81z — — 81

Total

comprehensive

income 63,66(

Balance at
September30,271v070’58‘$ 711% 29,09: $ 52,50($ 1,753,27'$ (3,979% 563t$ (669,184% 1,167,95!

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsgstents.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLows
(Unaudited and in thousands)

Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2010 2009
Operating activities:
Net income $ 60,90« $ 62,84
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal by operating activitie:
Depreciation and amortizatic 100,72¢ 99,19¢
Amortization of lease incentive 807 86¢€
Shar+-based compensation expel 5,06( 5,20¢
Additions to allowance for doubtful accoul 3,60t 4,53(
Amortization of deferred financing cos 2,52¢ 1,97¢
Amortization of past ca-flow hedges 262 (229)
(Gain)/loss on debt extinguishme 85 (1,287
Net (gains)/losses on disposition of prope 31 (20,886
Gains on disposition of f-sale residential condominiur (407) (829
Gains on disposition of investment in unconsolidaéiliates (25,330 —
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia (2,707 (3,844
Changes in financing obligatiol 103 86¢
Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated &ifiés 2,93: 3,07¢
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl (4,689 (534)
Prepaid expenses and other as (195) (1,627
Accrued straigt-line rents receivabl (8,477 (5,059
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheritiied 7,40i 10,54¢
Net cash provided by operating activit 142,65: 154,82¢
Investing activities:
Additions to real estate assets and deferred lg&sists (66,370) (101,674
Net proceeds from disposition of real estate a¢ 6,801 61,92¢
Net proceeds from disposition of -sale residential condominiur 3,732 7,94(
Proceeds from disposition of investment in uncodswéd affiliates 15,00( —
Distributions of capital from unconsolidated aies 1,591 3,257
Repayments of mortgages and notes recei\ 231 35€
Contributions to unconsolidated affiliat (907) (922)
Changes in restricted cash and other investingities 2,39 (15,506
Net cash used in investing activiti (37,526 (44,629
Financing activities:
Dividends on Common Stoc (91,19) (84,227
Dividends on Preferred Sto (5,03)) (5,03))
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in the&ating Partnershi (4,857 (5,169
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in coridated affiliates (50€) (79¢€)
Net proceeds from the issuance of Common S 2,07¢ 147,31(
Borrowings on revolving credit facilit 4,00 128,00(
Repayments of revolving credit facili (4,000 (291,000
Borrowings on mortgages and notes payi 10,36¢ 217,21!
Repayments of mortgages and notes pay (18,205 (185,089
Additions to deferred financing cos (50€) (3,11
Net cash used in financing activiti (107,85% (81,899
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equis: (2,730 28,31
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the b 23,69¢ 13,75]
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the p $ 20,96¢ $ 42,06¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanasstents.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CAsH FLows — Continued
(Unaudited and in thousands)

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capital

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing anéhfincing activities:

Unrealized gains on ca-flow hedges

Conversion of Common Units to Common Stock

Change in accrued capital expenditures

Write-off of fully depreciated real estate assets

Write-off of fully amortized deferred financing and leagicosts

Unrealized gains/(losses) on marketable secudfiemr-qualified deferreccompensation pla
Settlement of financing obligatic

Adjustment of noncontrolling interests in the Opigrg Partnership to fair valt
Unrealized gain on tax increment financing bond

Mortgages receivable from seller financing

Assumption of mortgages and notes payable

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsgstents.

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2010 2009
Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2010 2009
$ — 3 591
$ 2,95¢ $ 3,241
$ 89C $ (9,560
$ 34,70 $ 24,991
$ 11,521 $ 14,59:
$ 48¢ $ (109)
$ 4,18, $ =
$ (1,480 $ 18,49:
$ 471 $ 451
$ 17,03C $ —
$ 40,30¢ $ —
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NoOTES To CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2010
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per slre data)
(Unaudited)
1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Description of Business

The Company is a fully-integrated, self-administesnd self-managed equity real estate investmest (FREIT”) that operates in tl
Southeastern and Midwestern United States. The @oyngonducts virtually all of its activities thrdughe Operating Partnership.
September 30, 2010, the Company and/or the Opgrd&ertnership wholly owned 294 service office, industrial and retail propert
comprising 27.1 million square feet; 96 rental desitial units; 580 acres of undeveloped land slgtédy future development, of which 490 ac
are considered core holdings; one 100% pre-leaffieg property under relevelopment; one recently developed office proprdy is in servic
but not yet stabilized; and 30 for-sale residergd@idominiums (which are owned through a consaidiatajority-owned joint venture).

The Company is the sole general partner of the @iogy Partnership. At September 30, 2010, the Compavned all of the Preferred Ur
and 71.2 million, or 95.0%, of the Common Unitsmited partners (including one officer and two dicgs of the Company) own the remair
3.8 million Common Units. Generally, the OperatPartnership is obligated to redeem each Commonaiite request of the holder thereof
cash equal to the value of one share of CommonkS®O1 par value, based on the average of the ehgmlice for the 10 trading de
immediately preceding the notice date of such rgatiem provided that the Company, at its option, ralact to acquire any such Common U
presented for redemption for cash or one shareoofirGon Stock. The Common Units owned by the Commasynot redeemable. During
nine months ended September 30, 2010, the Compateemed 93,971 Common Units for a like number afeshof Common Stock, whi
increased the percentage of Common Units ownetddZbmpany from 94.8% at December 31, 2009 to 9a0%eptember 30, 2010.

Basis of Presentation

Our Consolidated Financial Statements are preparecbnformity with accounting principles generaligcepted in the United Sta
("GAAP”). Our Consolidated Statements of Income for the tlaee nine months ended September 30, 2009 werserk¥rom previous
reported amounts to reflect in discontinued operatithe operations for those properties sold od fied sale during the 12 months en
September 30, 2010 which required discontinued atjmers presentation. Prior period amounts relateddditions to allowance for doubt
accounts and amortization of lease commissionsiinGonsolidated Statements of Cash Flows have tetassified to conform to the curr
period presentation.

Our Consolidated Financial Statements include ther@ting Partnership, wholly owned subsidiaries #wode entities in which we have
controlling financial interest. All significant ietcompany transactions and accounts have beennatidi. At September 30, 2010
December 31, 2009, we were not involved with anjties that were determined to be variable inteesgities.

The unaudited interim consolidated financial st&eta and accompanying unaudited consolidated fiaeimformation, in the opinion i
management, contain all adjustments (including @bnmecurring accruals) necessary for a fair pregént of our financial position, results
operations and cash flows. We have omitted certates and other information from the interim cortated financial statements presente
this Quarterly Report on Form XD-as permitted by SEC rules and regulations. Tl&sesolidated Financial Statements should be re
conjunction with our 2009 Annual Report on FormKL.O-
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

NOTES To CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per sire data)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PoLiciEs - Continued
Use of Estimates

The preparation of these Consolidated Financiagke8tants in accordance with GAAP requires us to nestenates and assumptions
affect the amounts reported in the consolidategifiial statements and accompanying notes. Actsaltsecould differ from those estimates.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

Beginning with our 2010 Annual Report on FormKOwe will be required to provide enhanced disclesabout our financial receivabl
such as our mortgages and notes receivable, angbtiay for measuring credit losses related to ¢heceivables.

2. ReEAL ESTATE ASSETS
Acquisitions

During the third quarter of 2010, we acquired a,886 square foot office property in Memphis, TN &i0.0 million in cash and t
assumption of secured debt, which was recordediatvilue of $40.3 million with an implied interesite of 6.4%. The debt matures
November 2015. We have incurred or expect to irkud million of acquisitio-related expenses and approximately $2.3 milliomexrterm
building improvements. In connection with this aisifion, we recorded $2.8 million of above markedde intangible assets and $7.1 millic
in-place lease intangible assets with weightedageamortization periods at the time of acquisitibii.3 and 5.9 years, respectively.

Dispositions

During the second quarter of 2010, we sold sevéoeoproperties in Winston Salem, NC for gross pexts of $12.9 million. In connecti
with this disposition, we received cash of $4.5lionl and provided seller financing of $8.4 milligrecorded at fair value of $8.4 million
mortgages and notes receivable) and committechtbug to an additional $1.7 million for tenant impements and lease commissions, of w
$0.2 million was funded as of September 30, 201@ fhree-year, interesnly first mortgage carries a 6.0% average inter@st. Assuming r
default exists, the note can be extended by therbigy two additional ongear periods, subject to an increase in the intests to 7.0% in tr
fourth year and to 8.0% in the fifth year. We haeeounted for this disposition using the installim@ethod, whereby the $0.4 million gain
disposition of property has been deferred andhelfecognized when the seller financing is repaid.

During the second quarter of 2010, we also soldnslystrial properties in Greensboro, NC for grpssceeds of $12.0 million. In connect
with this disposition, we received cash of $3.4ligril and provided seller financing of $8.6 milligrecorded at fair value of $8.6 million
mortgages and notes receivable) and a limitedgeatantee with maximum exposure to loss of $1.0aniks of September 30, 2010. The three-
year, interestnly first mortgage carries a 6.25% average intaee. Assuming no default exists, the note caextended by the buyer for t
additional oneyear periods, subject to an increase in the inteats to 7.0% in the fourth year and to 7.75%hia fifth year. We currently ha
concluded that a loss from the rent guarantee tiprabable. We have accounted for this dispositisimg the installment method, whereby
$0.3 million impairment was recognized in net giinsses) on disposition of discontinued operatiorthe second quarter of 2010.

During the first quarter of 2010, we recorded a ptated sale in connection with the disposition ofadfice property in Raleigh, NC in t
fourth quarter of 2009 where the buyeright to compel us to repurchase the propertyrestpAccordingly, we recognized the $0.2 millioairg
on disposition of property in the first quarter2@f10.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

NOTES To CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per sire data)

3. INVESTMENT IN AFFILIATES
Unconsolidated Affiliates

We have equity interests ranging from 10.0% to %0il various joint ventures with unrelated thirdtpes. The following table sets forth
combined, summarized income statements for ournsatwated joint ventures:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
Income Statements:
Revenues $ 26,517 $ 36,15. $ 93,81¢ $ 112,36¢
Expenses:
Rental property and other expen 12,66¢ 17,80¢ 45,46: 54,51(
Depreciation and amortizatic 6,73( 9,092 24,10¢ 26,817
Interest expens 6,09/ 8,745 21,89: 26,58¢
Total expense 25,48¢ 35,64( 91,46: 107,91
Income before disposition of property 1,02¢ 512 2,35¢ 4,457
Gains/(losses) on disposition of prope — (463 — 2,96¢
Net income $ 1,02£ $ 49 $ 2,356 $ 7,42(
Our share of:
Net income(l) $ 1,015 $ 682 $ 2,70] $ 3,84Z
Depreciation and amortization of real estate a: $ 2,115 $ 3,35: $ 8,19¢ $ 9,82¢
|nterest expens $ 2,19( $ 3,49] $ 8,362 $ 10,61.
Gain/(loss) on disposition of propel $ = $4(1;9€) $ =9 582
(1) Our share of net income differs from our wegghaverage ownership percentage in the joint vegstaet income due to our purchi

accounting and other adjustments related primégsilpanagement and leasing fe

During the second quarter of 2010, we sold our tggnterests in a series of unconsolidated joimtuees relating to properties in [
Moines, IA. The assets in the joint ventures ineldi@.5 million square feet of office (1.7 millioguzre feet), industrial (788,000 square feet,
retail (45,000 square feet) properties, as well & apartment units. In connection with the closing received $15.0 million in cash. We h:
negative book basis in certain of the joint versuprimarily as a result of prior cash distribusdo the partners. Accordingly, we recorded
on disposition of investment in unconsolidatedliatés of $25.3 million in the second quarter ol@0As of the closing date, the joint ventt
had approximately $170 million of secured debt, ahhiwas norrecourse to us except (1) in the case of custoraacgptions pertaining
matters such as misuse of funds, borrower bankyupigpermitted transfers, environmental conditiangl material misrepresentations anc
approximately $9.0 million of direct and indireatagantees. We have been released by the applilatders from all such direct and indir
guarantees and we have no ongoing lender lialbdigting to such customary exceptions to necsurse liability with respect to most, but ndt
of the debt. The buyer has agreed to indemnify laold us harmless from any and all future losse$ We suffer as a result of our pr
investment in the joint ventures (other than lostiesctly resulting from our acts or omissions).the event we are exposed to any such fi
loss, our financial condition and results of opiers would not be adversely affected unless thebdgfaults on its indemnification obligation.
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3. NVESTMENT IN AFFILIATES - Continued
Consolidated Affiliates

We own a majority interest in Plaza ResidentialCL{“Plaza Residential”), a joint venture which wasmed to develop and sell 139 feale
residential condominiums constructed above an ®ffower developed by us in Raleigh, NC. Bate residential condominiums in
Consolidated Balance Sheets include 30 and 40 eaiethl but unsold, condominiums owned by Plaza Resia at September 30, 2010 .
December 31, 2009, respectively. We initially recaeceipts of earnest money deposits in accounysbba, accrued expenses and c
liabilities in accordance with the deposit methdéée then record completed sales when units closdgtentemaining net cash is received. Du
the three months ended September 30, 2010 and 2@08eceived $0.6 million and $2.9 million, respesly, in gross proceeds and recor
$0.5 million and $2.7 million, respectively, of ¢osf goods sold from condominium sales activity.ridg the nine months end
September 30, 2010 and 2009, we received $4.0omidind $8.4 million, respectively, in gross proceadd had $3.6 million and $7.6 milli
respectively, of cost of goods sold from condomimisales activity.

4. DEFERRED FINANCING AND LEASING COSTS
The following table sets forth total deferred ficarg and leasing costs, net of accumulated amdidiza

September 30 December 31

2010 2009
Deferred financing cos $ 17,07¢ $ 16,81:
Less accumulated amortizati (6,915 (4,549
10,16 12,26
Deferred leasing cos 113,13¢ 108,83!
Less accumulated amortizati (48,22¢) (47,58()
64,90¢ 61,25t
Deferred financing and leasing costs, net $ 75,06¢ $ 73,51
Amortization of deferred financing and leasing sosere as follows:
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
Amortization of deferred financing cos $ 85¢ $ 627 $ 2,52¢ $ 1,97¢
Amortization of lease commissions (included in égation and amortizatior $ 391 % 3,80¢ $ 11,49 $ 11,59¢
Amortization of lease incentives (included in rémad other revenue $ 27C $ 31€ $ 807 $ 86€
The following table sets forth scheduled future dimation for deferred financing and leasing costs:
Amortization
of Deferred Amortization Amortization
Financing of Lease of Lease
Costs Commissions Incentives
September 30, 2010 through December 31, : $ 78€ $ 3,855 $ 261
2011 2,68( 13,82t 982
2012 2,52¢ 11,39( 881
2013 897 9,151 682
2014 52C 7,01¢ 512
Thereafter 2,75( 14,947 1,40¢
$ 10,16 $ 60,18 $ 4,72F
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4, DFERRED FINANCING AND LEASING CosTs - Continued

The weighted average remaining amortization perfodsleferred financing and leasing costs werey@#s and 6.3 years, respectively
of September 30, 2010.

5. MORTGAGES AND NOTES PAYABLE
The following table sets forth our consolidated tgages and notes payable:

September 3C December 31

2010 2009
Secured indebtedness $ 763,10° $ 720,72
Unsecured indebtedness 738,51° 748,42¢
Total mortgages and notes payable $ 150162 $ 146915

At September 30, 2010, our secured mortgage loane secured by real estate assets with an aggregdépreciated book value of $
billion.

Our $400.0 million unsecured revolving credit fagilis scheduled to mature on February 21, 2013 ianllides an accordion feature 1
allows for an additional $50.0 million of borrowirgapacity subject to additional lender commitme/tssuming we continue to have th
publicly announced ratings from the credit ratirgercies, the interest rate and facility fee underrevolving credit facility are based on
lower of the two highest publicly announced ratingased on our current credit ratings, the interats is LIBOR plus 290 basis points and
annual facility fee is 60 basis points. There wame amounts outstanding under our revolving crediility at September 30, 2010 ¢
October 21, 2010. At September 30, 2010 and Octbe?010, we had $1.1 million of outstanding lett®f credit, which reduces 1
availability on our revolving credit facility. As aesult, the unused capacity of our revolving drddtility at September 30, 2010 ¢
October 21, 2010 was $398.9 million.

Our $70.0 million secured construction facility, which $52.1 million was outstanding at Septemtr2®10, is initially scheduled
mature on December 20, 2010. The outstanding balamareased in the third quarter of 2010 due touthe of proceeds to reduce the bal
outstanding under a bank term loan due in Marci228%suming no defaults have occurred, we havepgtio extend the maturity date for 1
successive ongear periods. During the third quarter of 2010,suémitted our notice to extend the maturity datebg year. Upon payment
the extension fee and assuming no default exidbeaember 20, 2010, the facility will be extendedillDecember 20, 2011. The interest ra
LIBOR plus 85 basis points. This facility had $1m8lion of availability at September 30, 2010 abdtober 21, 2010.

We are currently in compliance with all debt covaiseand requirements.
6. CERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

We had no outstanding interest rate hedge contea@sptember 30, 2010 or December 31, 2009. Tleviag table sets forth the effect
our past cash-flow hedges on accumulated other mmpsive loss (“AOCL") and interest expense:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
Derivatives Designated as Ca«-flow Hedges:
Unrealized gain recognized in AOCL on derivativeBective portion).
Interest rate hedge contra $ — 3 177° % — 3 591
(Gain)/lossreclassified out of AOCL into interest expensedefive portion’:
Interest rate hedge contra $ (25 % (89 $ 26z $ (228

12
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7. NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS
Noncontrolling Interests in the Operating Partnershp

Noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partngrsklate to the ownership of Common Units by vasiandividuals and entities other tt
the Company. The following table sets forth nonoaltihg interests in the Operating Partnership:

Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2010 2009

Beginning noncontrolling interests in the Operatiragtnershif $ 129,76¢ $ 111,27¢
Adjustments of noncontrolling interests in the Gyiierg Partnership to fair valt (1,480 18,491
Conversion of Common Units to Common St (2,95¢) (3,24))
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interestthe Operating Partnerst 2,81¢ 3,33¢
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in the@ating Partnershi (4,857 (5,16%
Total noncontrolling interests in the OperatingtRarship $ 12329 §$ 124,70¢

The following table sets forth the change in eqdiiym net income available for common stockholdamsl transfers from noncontrolli
interests:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
Net income available for common stockhold $ 6,87¢ $ 10,281 $ 52,77: $ 54,31¢
Conversion of Common Units to Common St — 3,052 2,95¢ 3,241
Change in equity from net income available for canrstockholders and
conversion of Common Units to Common St $ 687 $ 1333t $ 557308  57,56(

Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Affiliates

Noncontrolling interests in consolidated affiliatesdates to our respective joint venture partn&@.0% interest in Highwoodstarkel
Associates, LLC and both legal and estimated ecanarterests of 7% in Plaza Residential. Each af joint venture partners is an unrele
third party.

8. DscLosURE ABOUT FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following summarizes the three levels of inpihist we use to measure fair value, as well asafisets, noncontrolling interests in
Operating Partnership and liabilities that we retpg at fair value using those levels of inputs.

Level 1. Quoted prices in active markets for identicaktsor liabilities.
Our Level 1 assets are investments in marketalolerisies which we use to pay benefits under our-goalified deferred compensation pl

Our Level 1 noncontrolling interests in the OpergtPartnership relate to the ownership of Commoitsly various individuals and entit
other than the Company. Our Level 1 liability i oon-qualified deferred compensation obligation.

13
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8. DscLosURE ABoUT FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Continued

Level 2. Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, sischumted prices for similar assets or liabilitigapted prices in markets that
not active; or other inputs that are observableaor be corroborated by observable market datasustantially the full term of the related as
or liabilities. We had no Level 2 assets or liakes at September 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009.

Level 3. Unobservable inputs that are supported by littlenormarket activity and that are significant to fag value of the assets
liabilities.

Our Level 3 assets are our tax increment finanbimgd, which is not routinely traded but whose failue is determined using an estimat
projected redemption value based on quoted biddasks for similar unrated municipal bonds, and estate assets recorded at fair value
non-recurring basis as a result of our quarterlydinment analysis, which were valued using indepahdppraisals.

The following tables set forth the assets, nonadlivig interests in the Operating Partnership dability that we measure at fair value
level within the fair value hierarchy. We determthe level based on the lowest level of substarntipat used to determine fair value.

Level 1 Level 3
Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets for
Identical Significant
September 30 Assets or Unobservable
2010 Liabilities Inputs
Assets:
Marketable securities of non-qualified deferred pemsation plan (in prepaid
expenses and other asst $ 3,232 $ 3,232 % —
Tax increment financing bond (in prepaid expensesather assets) 17,34 — 17,34
Total Assets $ 20,57« $ 323 % 17,34:
Noncontrolling Interests in the Operating Partnershp $ 123,29 $ 123,29: $ —
Liability:
Non-qualified deferred compensation obligation (in@auts payable, accrued
expenses and other liabilitie $ 3,846 $ 3,84¢ $ —
Level 1 Level 3
Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets for
Identical Significant
December 31 Assets or Unobservable
2009 Liabilities Inputs
Assets:
Marketable securities of n-qualified deferred compensation pl $ 6,13t $ 6,13t $ —
Tax increment financing bor 16,87: — 16,871
Impaired real estate ass 32,00( — 32,00(
Total Assets $ 55,00( $ 6,135 $ 48,87]
Noncontrolling Interests in the Operating Partnershp $ 129,76¢ $ 129,76¢ $ =
Liability:
$ 6,89¢ $ 6,89¢ $ —

Non-qualified deferred compensation obligat
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8. DscLosURE ABoUT FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued

The following table sets forth our Level 3 asset:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
Asset:
Tax Increment Financing Bond

Beginning balanc $ 17,017 $ 17,66( $ 16,87: $ 17,46¢
Unrealized gain (in AOCL 328 25¢ 471 451
Ending ba|anC1 $ 17,34: $ 17,915 $ 17,34: $ 17,915

In the fourth quarter of 2007, we acquired a taxxement financing bond associated with a propegtyetbped by us. This bond amortize
maturity in 2020. The estimated fair value at Seyiter 30, 2010 was $1.9 million below the outstagdinincipal due on the bond. If the yield-
to-maturity used to fair value this bond was 100 basigits higher, the fair value of the bond would/dndeen $0.8 million lower as
September 30, 2010. If the yield-teaturity used to fair value this bond was 100 basisits lower, the fair value of the bond would aédeel
$0.8 million higher as of September 30, 2010. Guttye we intend to hold this bond and have conctuteat we will not be required to sell t
bond before recovery of the bond principal. Paynmnthe principal and interest for the bond is gudeed by us and, therefore, we t
recorded no credit losses related to the bonderthhee and nine months ended September 30, 2@lLACHY. There is no legal right of off
with the liability, which we report as a financingligation, related to this tax increment financband.

The following table sets forth the carrying amouams fair values of our financial instruments:

Carrying
Amount Fair Value

September 30, 201!

Cash and cash equivale! $ 20,96¢ $ 20,96¢
Restricted cas $ 4,751 $ 4,757
Accounts, mortgages and notes receiv: $ 42,36¢ $ 42,481
Marketable securities of n-qualified deferred compensation pl $ 3,232 $ 3,232
Tax increment financing bor $ 17,34: $ 17,34:
Mortgages and notes payal $ 1,501,62: $ 1,597,62.
Financing obligation $ 33,62t $ 22,86
Non-qualified deferred compensation obligat $ 3,84¢ $ 3,84¢
Noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnigr: $ 123,290 $ 123,29:
December 31, 200!

Cash and cash equivalel $ 23,69¢ $ 23,69¢
Restricted cas $ 6,841 $ 6,841
Accounts, mortgages and notes receivi $ 24,21 $ 24,21:
Marketable securities of n-qualified deferred compensation pl $ 6,13t $ 6,13¢
Tax increment financing bor $ 16,871 $ 16,87
Mortgages and notes payal $ 1,469,15' $ 1,440,31
Financing obligation $ 37,70¢ $ 31,66¢
Non-qualified deferred compensation obligat $ 6,89¢ $ 6,89¢
Noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnigr: $ 129,76¢ $ 129,76¢
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8. DscLosURE ABoUT FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued

The carrying values of our cash and cash equivaleastricted cash, accounts receivable, marketstarities of nomualified deferre
compensation plan, tax increment financing bondh-aquelified deferred compensation obligation and momolling interests in the Operati
Partnership are equal to or approximate fair valtee fair values of our mortgages and notes rebéyanortgages and notes payable
financing obligations were estimated using the ineamr market approaches to approximate the pretewtbuld be paid in an orderly transac
between market participants on the respective neasnt dates.

9. $IARE-BASED PAYMENTS

During the nine months ended September 30, 201@ramted 190,826 stock options at an exercise pdcel to the closing market price
a share of our Common Stock on the date of gram. f@iir value of each option grant is estimatedhendate of grant using the Bla8ichole:
option pricing model, which resulted in a weightadcrage grant date fair value per share of $4.9&inD the nine months enc
September 30, 2010, we also granted 89,635 sharmmebased restricted stock and 78,151 shardstaf returnbased restricted stock w
weighted-average grant date fair values per shaf2®.05 and $29.75, respectively. We recordedksbased compensation expense of
million each during the three months ended Septe®®e2010 and 2009 and $5.1 million and $5.2 onlliduring the nine months enc
September 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively. At &apte 30, 2010, there was $8.4 million of total wognized stoclbased compensation co
which will be recognized over a weighted averageai@ing contractual term of 1.7 years.

10. CGOMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

The following table sets forth the components ahpeehensive income:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
Net income $ 8,77 $ 12,57 $ 60,90¢ $ 62,84
Other comprehensive income/(los
Unrealized gain on tax increment financing b 32t 25¢ 471 451
Unrealized gains on cs-flow hedges — 177 — 591
Amortization of past ca-flow hedges (25) (89) 262 (229)
Settlement of past cash-flow hedge from dispositibimvestment in
unconsolidated affiliat — — 10 —
Total other comprehensive incor 30C 3417 83€ 81
Total Comprehensive incon $ 9,07: $ 12,92( $ 61,74( $ 63,66(

The following table sets forth the components of AO

September 3C December 31

2010 2009
Tax increment financing bond $ 1,89t $ 2,36¢€
Past cas-flow hedges 1,08( 1,44¢
Total accumulated other comprehensive loss $ 2,97¢ $ 3,811
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The following table sets forth our operations whietjuired classification as discontinued operations

Rental and other revenues

Operating expenses

Rental property and other expen

Depreciation and amortizatic
Total operating expens:

Other income

Income before net gains/(losses) on disposition discontinued operations
Net gains/(losses) on disposition of discontinupdrations

Total discontinued operations

The following table sets forth the major classeassets and liabilities of the properties classifie held for sale:

Assets:
Land

Buildings and tenant improvements
Land held for development

Total real estate assets
Less accumulated depreciation

Net real estate ass¢
Deferred leasing costs, r
Accrued straight line rents receival
Prepaid expenses and other assets

Real estate and other assets, net, held for s:
Liabilities of real estate and other assets, radt for sale(1)

() Included in accounts payable, accrued expensesthed liabilities.

17

Three Months Ended

Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2009 2010 2009
$ 145t $ 1432 $ 7,837

48¢ 65€ 3,01(
322 36E 1,60¢
81C 1,021 4,61¢

1 — 2

64€ 411 3,22(

(377) (86) 20,63¢

$ 26€ $ 328 $ 283,85¢

September 3C December 31
2010 2009

$ — % 867

— 3,87¢

1,215 1,197

1,217 5,94(

— (1,48¢)

1,217 4,45¢

— 20¢

— 28¢

32 77

$ 1,24¢ $ 5,031

$ 12 $ 12
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The following table sets forth the computation abtc and diluted earnings per Common Share:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
Earnings per Common Share- basic:
Numerator:
Income from continuing operatiol $ 8,77: $ 12,300 $ 60,57¢ $ 38,98¢
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling inteiein the Operating Partnership
from continuing operation (36€) (57€) (2,802 (1,949
Net (income)/loss attributable to noncontrollingeirests in consolidated affiliates
from continuing operation 14¢ (24) (281) (159)
Dividends on Preferred Sto: (1,677 (1,677 (5,039 (5,039
Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholder 6,87¢ 10,021 52,46¢ 31,851
Income from discontinued operatic — 26¢ 32t 23,85¢
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling intdeeim the Operating Partnership fr
discontinued operatior — (15 17 (1,399
Income from discontinued operations available finmonstockholder: — 254 30¢€ 22,46¢

Net income available for common stockhold $ 687¢ $§ 10281 $ 52,770 $ 54,31¢

Denominator:

Denominator for basic earnings per Common S- weighted average shar —_r1,63 __ 7090:  /154¢ 66,91
Earnings per Common She- basic:
Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholder $ 0.1C $ 0.1t $ 0.74 $ 0.47
Income from discontinued operations available fammon stockholder — — — 0.34
Net income available for common stockhold $ 0.1C $ 0.1t $ 0.74 % 0.81
Earnings per Common Share- diluted:
Numerator:
Income from continuing operatiol $ 8,77 $ 1230¢ $ 6057¢ $ 38,98¢
Net (income)/loss attributable to noncontrollingeirests in consolidated affiliates
from continuing operation 14¢ (24) (281) (159)
Dividends on Preferred Stor (1,677 (1,679 (5,031 (5,031
Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholders before r
(income) attributable to noncontrolling interesighe Operating Partnerst 7,244 10,60: 55,267 33,79¢
Income from discontinued operations available fanmon stockholders — 26¢ 32E 23,85¢
Net income available for common stockholders befeeincome . .
attributable to noncontrolling interests in the @timg Partnershi $ 724$ 1087:$ 5559:$ 57,65¢
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per Common S—-weighted averagshares 71,63: 70,90z 71,54¢ 66,91
Add:
Stock options using the treasury meti 21C 121 183 52
Noncontrolling interests partnership ur 3,79 4,04¢ 3,80¢ 4,06(
Denominator for diluted earnings per Common Shaadjusted weighted average . )
shares and assumed conversi() 75,63¢ 75,07% 75,53 71,024
Earnings per Common She- diluted:
Income from continuing operations available for coom stockholder $ 0.1C $ 0.14 $ 0.74 $ 0.47
Income from discontinued operations available fanmon stockholder — — — 0.34
Net income available for common stockhold $ 01C$s 014% 0743$ 081
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12. ERNINGS PER SHARE — Continued

) Options and warrants aggregating 0.7 million argdmiillion shares were outstanding during the thmemths ended September 30, 2
and 2009, respectively, and 0.7 million and 1.2iarilshares were outstanding during the nine moetided September 30, 2010
2009, respectively, but were not included in thmpatation of diluted earnings per Common Share lieethe impact of including st
shares would be a-dilutive .

13. $GMENT INFORMATION

Our principal business is the operation, acquisiiad development of rental real estate propeiiEsevaluate our business by product
and by geographic location. Each product type lifisrent customers and economic characteristiceasntal rates and terms, cost per sc
foot of buildings, the purposes for which customesg the space, the degree of maintenance andnerssupport required and custol
dependency on different economic drivers, amonegrsthThe operating results by geographic groupiegaéso regularly reviewed by our ct
operating decision maker for assessing performandeother purposes. There are no material intansagtransactions.

Our accounting policies of the segments are theesasrnthose used in our Consolidated Financial i@tates. All operations are within 1
United States and, at September 30, 2010, no sowgdomer of the Wholly Owned Properties generatede than 9.4% of our consolida
revenues on an annualized basis.

The following table summarizes the rental and otlesenues and net operating income, the primarysing propertylevel performanc
metric which is defined as rental and other revereass rental property and other expenses, for egudttable segment:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30 September 30
2010 2009 2010 2009
Rental and Other Revenues(1)
Office:
Atlanta, GA $ 11,87 $ 12,617 $ 36,06¢ $ 36,21
Greenville, SC 3,312 3,42¢ 10,44( 10,66¢
Kansas City, MC 3,67: 3,74z 11,04t 11,20(
Memphis, TN 9,692 8,18t 24,88¢ 22,61¢
Nashville, TN 14,59¢ 14,90: 44,56¢ 45,49¢
Orlando, FL 2,92( 3,11C 8,98¢ 8,90:
Piedmont Triad, N( 5,80z 5,72( 17,72 17,57¢
Raleigh, NC 18,81« 18,20¢ 56,07( 54,50¢
Richmond, VA 12,21( 12,17: 35,48¢ 35,11+
Tampa, FL 17,83: 17,48( 53,81( 50,60(
Total Office Segmer 100,72: 99,56 299,08( 292,89!
Industrial:
Atlanta, GA 3,66( 3,90/ 11,47¢ 11,77¢
Piedmont Triad, NC 3,25¢ 2,85¢ 9,324 9,872
Total Industrial Segmel 6,91¢ 6,76: 20,80: 21,64,
Retail:
Kansas City, MC 8,10z 6,46¢ 24,54( 21,75
Piedmont Triad, N( — 47 (40) 161
Raleigh, NC 30 30 10E 90
Total Retail Segmer 8,13t 6,54 24,60¢ 22,00¢
Residential
Kansas City, MO 28€ 30z 96¢ 897
Total Residential Segme 28¢ 30z 96¢ 897
Total Rental and Other
Revenues $ 116,06: $ 113,17( % 345,45¢ $ 337,44¢
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13. 8GMENT INFORMATION — Continued
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
Net Operating Income: (1)
Office:
Atlanta, GA $ 739 % 7,89, % 22,86¢ $ 22,90z
Greenville, SC 1,85¢ 2,01« 6,30¢ 6,64:
Kansas City, MC 2,16( 2,34: 6,70( 6,84%
Memphis, TN 5,501 4,84¢ 15,01t 12,89:
Nashville, TN 9,49( 9,71: 29,42¢ 29,64¢
Orlando, FL 1,55¢ 1,63 4,891 4,667
Piedmont Triad, NC 3,84: 3,63¢ 11,69¢ 11,53t
Raleigh, NC 12,61 11,94¢ 38,44¢ 36,73¢
Richmond, VA 7,63 7,83 23,98¢ 23,891
Tampa, FL 10,90: 10,24¢ 32,71¢ 29,63(
Total Office Segmer 62,95 62,11( 192,05: 185,39¢
Industrial:
Atlanta, GA 2,49: 2,90z 8,05¢ 8,90¢€
Piedmont Triad, NC 2,46( 2,08 6,83¢ 7,63(
Total Industrial Segmel 4,95: 4,99( 14,89: 16,53¢
Retail:
Atlanta, GA(2) (5) (6) (26) (18)
Kansas City, MC 4,56¢ 3,49/ 14,66¢ 13,45¢
Piedmont Triad, N(22) — (72 (40 18
Raleigh, NC(2) 10 €)) 29 9
Total Retail Segmer 4,574 3,41¢ 14,64 13,46:
Residential
Kansas City, MC 16¢€ 162 594 517
Raleigh, NC2) (90) (72) (265) (210)
Total Residential Segme 78 91 32¢ 307
Total Net Operating
Income 72,55¢ 70,60¢ 221,91. 215,70:
Reconciliation to income from continuing operationsbefore
disposition of property, condominiums and investmenin
unconsolidated affiliates and equity in earnings of
unconsolidated affiliates:
Depreciation and amortizatic (34,28)) (32,367 (100,363) (97,590)
General and administrative expel (8,882) (9,485 (24,369 (27,28¢)
Interest expens (23,339 (21,339 (69,385 (64,659
Interest and other incon 1,62¢ 3,981 4,291 7,90z
Income from continuing operations before dispogitid property,
condominiums and investment in unconsolidatediaféis and . .
equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia $ 7,68: $ 11,40. $ 32,08t $ 34,07¢
) Net of discontinued operatior
(2) Negative NOI with no corresponding revenues reprissexpensed real estate taxes and other carrgstg associated with land held

development that is currently zoned for the respegiroduct type
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Unaudited and in thousands, except unit and pitranmounts)

September 30 December 31

2010 2009
Assets:
Real estate assets, at c(
Land $ 345,53. $ 350,53
Buildings and tenant improvemer 2,900,74! 2,880,63:
Land held for development 104,01( 104,14¢
3,350,29 3,335,31
Lesse-accumulated depreciatic (818,34) (781,07))
Net real estate ass¢ 2,531,94. 2,554,24.
For-sale residential condominiur 9,57¢ 12,93:
Real estate and other assets, net, held fol 1,24¢ 5,031
Cash and cash equivalel 20,931 23,51¢
Restricted cas 4,757 6,841
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $3,157 $2@10, respectivel 22,42¢ 21,06¢
Mortgages and notes receivable, net of allowan960 and $698, respective 19,94: 3,14:
Accrued straigt-line rents receivable, net of allowance of $2,46d $2,443, respectivel 90,00: 82,60(
Investment in unconsolidated affiliat 61,32: 64,89«
Deferred financing and leasing costs, net of acdatad amortization of $55,143 and $52,129,
respectively 75,06¢ 73,515
Prepaid expenses and other as 39,77¢ 37,94,
Total Assets $ 2,876,99' $ 2,885,73:
Liabilities, Redeemable Operating Partnership Unitsand Capital:
Mortgages and notes payal $ 1,501,62. $ 1,469,15!
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheiitiied 112,73t 117,33:
Financing obligation 33,62¢ 37,70¢
Total Liabilities 1,647,98 1,624,19:
Commitments and contingenci
Redeemable Operating Partnership Ur
Common Units, 3,797,150 and 3,891,121 outstandexpectively 123,29: 129,76¢
Series A Preferred Units (liquidation preferenced®0 per unit), 29,092 shares issued and
outstanding 29,09: 29,09:
Series B Preferred Units (liquidation preferencd $2r unit), 2,100,000 shares issued and
outstanding 52,50( 52,50(
Total Redeemable Operating Partnership L 204,88! 211,36
Capital:
Common Units
General partner Common Units, 750,446 and 747,6T&anding, respective 10,21¢ 10,48¢
Limited partner Common Units, 70,496,977 and 70,828 outstanding, respective 1,011,92 1,038,32!
Accumulated other comprehensive i (2,97 (3,81))
Noncontrolling interests in consolidated affiliates 4,95¢ 5,18
Total Capital 1,024,12 1,050,18!
Total Liabilities, Redeemable Operating Partnersbmits and Capite $ 2,876,99' $ 2,885,73

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsgstents.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(Unaudited and in thousands, except per unit anspunt

Rental and other revenues
Operating expenses
Rental property and other expen
Depreciation and amortizatic
General and administrati\
Total operating expens:
Interest expense:
Contractua
Amortization of deferred financing cos

Financing obligation

Other income:
Interest and other incon

Gain/(loss) on debt extinguishme

Income from continuing operations before dispositia of property,
condominiums and investment in unconsolidated affiites and equity in
earnings of unconsolidated affiliates
Gains on disposition of proper
Gains on disposition of f-sale residential condominiur
Gains on disposition of investment in unconsolidaéiliates
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia

Income from continuing

operations

Discontinued operations:

Income from discontinued operatic
Net gains/(losses) on disposition of discontinupdrations

Net income
Net (income)/loss attributable to noncontrollingeirests in consolidated
affiliates

Distributions on Preferred Uni
Net income available for common unitholders

Earnings per Common Unit- basic:
Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholder:

Income from discontinued operations available fanmon unitholder
Net income available for common unithold
Weighted average Common Units outstanc basic

Earnings per Common Unit- diluted:
Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholder:

Income from discontinued operations available fanmon unitholder
Net income available for common unithold
Weighted average Common Units outstanc- diluted

Distributions declared per Common U
Net income available for common unitholders
Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholder:

Income from discontinued operations available fanmon unitholder
Net income available for common unithold

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanasstents.
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Three Months Ended

Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
116,060 $ 113,17( $ 34545t $ 337,44!

43,50¢ 42,56¢ 123,33 121,49:

34,28: 32,367 100,36 97,59(

8,88: 9,48¢ 24,57¢ 27,537

86,66¢ 84,41¢ 248,27t 246,61

22,02( 20,001 65,527 60,52¢

85¢ 627 2,52¢ 1,97¢
46C 70€ 1,33( 2,151
23,33¢ 21,33¢ 69,38t 64,65¢
1,71C 3,324 4,37¢ 6,61F
(85) 657 (85) 1,281
1,62¢ 3,981 4,291 7,902
7,68 11,401 32,08¢ 34,07«
19 34 55 247
54 187 407 82¢
— — 25,33( —
1,03:¢ 66¢ 2,70¢ 3,77¢

8,78¢ 12,291 60,58 38,92:

— 64€ 411 3,22(
— (377 (86) 20,63¢
— 26¢ 32E 23,85¢

8,78¢ 12,56( 60,90¢ 62,78:

14¢ (24) (282) (15¢)

(1,677 (1,677% (5,039 (5,03

7,25¢ $ 10,85¢ $ 55,59¢ $ 57,59!

0.1C $ 0.1t $ 0.74 $ 0.4¢
— — — 0.34
0.1C $ 0.1t $ 0.74 $ 0.82
75,01¢ 74,54 74,94% 70,56:
0.1C $ 0.1t $ 0.74 $ 0.4¢
— — — 0.34
0.1C $ 0.1f $ 0.74 $ 0.82
75,22¢ 74,66 75,12¢ 70,61t

0.42% $ 0.42% $ 127t $ 1.27¢

7,25¢ $ 10,59( $ 55,27. $ 33,73¢

— 26¢ 32E 23,85¢
7,25¢ $ 10,85¢ $ 55,59¢ $ 57,59!
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CAPITAL
Nine months ended September 30, 2010 and 2009
(Unaudited and in thousands)

Common Units

Accumulated Noncontrolling

Other Interests in
General Limited Comprehensive  Consolidated
Partner Partner Loss Affiliates Total
Balance at December 31, 20 $ 1048t $ 1,038,328 $ (3,810 $ 5,18: 1,050,18!
Issuance of Common Units, r 21 2,05¢ — — 2,07¢
Distributions on Common Unit (95¢€) (94,577 — — (95,539
Distributions on Preferred Uni (50) (4,98)) — — (5,03))
Shar-based compensation expel 51 5,00¢ — — 5,06(
Distribution to noncontrolling interests in constated
affiliates — — — (50€) (50€)
Adjustment of Redeemable Common Units to fair va
and contributions/distributions from/to the Gener
Partnel 61 6,071 — — 6,13
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling intdeeisn
consolidated affiliate 3 (27¢) — 281 —
Comprehensive incom:
Net income 60¢ 60,29¢ — — 60,90¢
Other comprehensive income — — 83€ — 83€
Total comprehensive incon 61,74«
Balance at September 301 2C $ 10,21& $ 1,011,92' $ (2,975) $ 4,952 1,024,12
Common Units
Accumulated Noncontrolling
Other Interests in
General Limited Comprehensive  Consolidated
Partner Partner Loss Affiliates Total
Balance at December 31, 20 $ 9,75¢ $ 966,37¢ $ (4,792 $ 6,17¢ 977,52:
Issuance of Common Units, r 1,47: 145,83° — — 147,31(
Distributions on Common Unit (889) (87,979 — — (88,86)
Distributions on Preferred Uni (50) (4,98)) — — (5,03))
Shar-based compensation expel 52 5,152 — — 5,204
Distribution to noncontrolling interests in constalted
affiliates — — — (796 (79€)
Adjustment of Redeemable Common Units to fair va
and contributions/distributions from/to the Gener
Partnel (239 (13,84¢) — — (23,985
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling intdeeisn
consolidated affiliate (2 (15€) — 15¢ —
Comprehensive incom:
Net income 62¢ 62,15¢ — — 62,78:
Other comprehensive income — — 812 — 813
Total comprehensive incon 63,59¢
Balance at September 301 2C $ 10,83: $ 1,072,561 $ (3,975) $ 5,532 $ 1,084,95

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsgstents.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLows
(Unaudited and in thousands)

Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2010 2009
Operating activities:
Net income $ 60,90¢ $ 62,78
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal by operating activitie:
Depreciation and amortizatic 100,72¢ 99,19¢
Amortization of lease incentive 807 86¢€
Shar+-based compensation expel 5,06( 5,20¢
Additions to allowance for doubtful accoul 3,60t 4,53(
Amortization of deferred financing cos 2,52¢ 1,97¢
Amortization of past ca-flow hedges 262 (229)
(Gain)/loss on debt extinguishme 85 (1,287
Net (gains)/losses on disposition of prope 31 (20,886
Gains on disposition of f-sale residential condominiur (407) (829
Gains on disposition of investment in unconsolidaéiliates (25,330 —
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia (2,705 (3,779
Changes in financing obligatiol 103 86¢
Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated &ifiés 2,887 3,03:
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl (4,689 (534)
Prepaid expenses and other as (177) (1,606
Accrued straigt-line rents receivabl (8,477 (5,059
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheritiied 7,401 10,55
Net cash provided by operating activit 142,62¢ 154,81(
Investing activities:
Additions to real estate assets and deferred lg&sists (66,370) (101,674
Net proceeds from disposition of real estate a¢ 6,801 61,92¢
Net proceeds from disposition of -sale residential condominiur 3,732 7,94(
Proceeds from disposition of investment in uncodswéd affiliates 15,00( —
Distributions of capital from unconsolidated aies 1,591 3,257
Repayments of mortgages and notes recei\ 231 35€
Contributions to unconsolidated affiliat (907) (922)
Changes in restricted cash and other investingitiet 2,39¢ (15,519
Net cash used in investing activiti (37,529 (44,632
Financing activities:
Distributions on Common Uni (95,537) (88,867
Distributions on Preferred Uni (5,03)) (5,03))
Distributions to noncontrolling interests in coridated affiliates (50€) (79€)
Net proceeds from the issuance of Common L 2,07¢ 147,31(
Borrowings on revolving credit facilit 4,00 128,00(
Repayments of revolving credit facili (4,000 (291,000
Borrowings on mortgages and notes pay: 10,36¢ 217,21!
Repayments of mortgages and notes pay (18,205 (185,089
Additions to deferred financing cos (853 (3,679
Net cash used in financing activiti (107,689 (81,929
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equis: (2,582 28,25(
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the ¢ 23,51¢ 13,64¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the pi $ 2093: % 4189

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsgstents.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLows - Continued
(Unaudited and in thousands)
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2010 2009

Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capital $ 66,43t $ 64,73¢

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing anéhfincing activities:

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2010 2009
Unrealized gains on ca-flow hedges $ — $ 591
Change in accrued capital expenditures $ 89C $ (9,560
Write-off of fully depreciated real estate assets $ 34,70: $ 24,99
Write-off of fully amortized deferred financing and leagicosts $ 11,521 $ 14,59:
Unrealized gains/(losses) on marketable secufie®r-qualified deferreccompensation pla $ 48¢ $ (209
Settlement of financing obligatic $ 4,18 $ —
Adjustment of Redeemable Common Units to fair vi $ (6,476¢) $ 13,427
Unrealized gain on tax increment financing bond $ 471 $ 451
Mortgages receivable from seller financing $ 17,03 $ =
Assumption of mortgages and notes payable $ 40,30¢ $ —

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanasstents.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2010
(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per uit data)
(Unaudited)
1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Description of Business

The Company is a fully-integrated, self-administesnd self-managed equity real estate investmest (FREIT”) that operates in tl
Southeastern and Midwestern United States. The @oyngonducts virtually all of its activities thrdughe Operating Partnership.
September 30, 2010, the Company and/or the Opgrd&ertnership wholly owned 294 service office, industrial and retail propert
comprising 27.1 million square feet; 96 rental desitial units; 580 acres of undeveloped land slgtédy future development, of which 490 ac
are considered core holdings; one 100% pre-lealfie@ property under relevelopment; one recently developed office prop#rdy is in servic
but not yet stabilized; and 30 for-sale residerd@idominiums (which are owned through a consaidiatajority-owned joint venture).

The Company is the sole general partner of the @iogy Partnership. At September 30, 2010, the Compavned all of the Preferred Ur
and 71.2 million, or 95.0%, of the Common Unitsmitied partners (including one officer and two dicgs of the Company) own the remair
3.8 million Common Units. Generally, the OperatPartnership is obligated to redeem each Commonaiite request of the holder thereof
cash equal to the value of one share of CommonkSt®©01 par value, based on the average of the ehgmice for the 10 trading de
immediately preceding the notice date of such rgatiem provided that the Company, at its option, ralact to acquire any such Common U
presented for redemption for cash or one shareoofirGon Stock. The Common Units owned by the Commasynot redeemable. During
nine months ended September 30, 2010, the Compateemed 93,971 Common Units for a like number afeshof Common Stock, whi
increased the percentage of Common Units ownetddZbmpany from 94.8% at December 31, 2009 to 9a0%eptember 30, 2010.

Basis of Presentation

Our Consolidated Financial Statements are preparecbnformity with accounting principles generaligcepted in the United Sta
(“GAAP"). Our Consolidated Statements of Income for the tlmed nine months ended September 30, 2009 werseck¥rom previous
reported amounts to reflect in discontinued operatithe operations for those properties sold od fied sale during the 12 months en
September 30, 2010 which required discontinued atjmers presentation. Prior period amounts relateddditions to allowance for doubt
accounts and amortization of lease commissionsiinGmnsolidated Statements of Cash Flows have te#assified to conform to the curr
period presentation.

Our Consolidated Financial Statements include wholvned subsidiaries and those entities in whichhaee the controlling financi
interest. All significant intercompany transacticarsd accounts have been eliminated. At Septemhe&2@@® and December 31, 2009, we v
not involved with any entities that were determin@dbe variable interest entities.

The unaudited interim consolidated financial staeta and accompanying unaudited consolidated fiaeimformation, in the opinion i
management, contain all adjustments (including @bnmecurring accruals) necessary for a fair pregént of our financial position, results
operations and cash flows. We have omitted certates and other information from the interim cordstied financial statements presente
this Quarterly Report on Form XD-as permitted by SEC rules and regulations. Tl&sesolidated Financial Statements should be re
conjunction with our 2009 Annual Report on FormKLO-
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

NoOTES To CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per uit data)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESSAND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PoLiciEs - Continued
Use of Estimates

The preparation of these Consolidated Financiagke8tants in accordance with GAAP requires us to nestenates and assumptions
affect the amounts reported in the consolidategifiial statements and accompanying notes. Actsaltsecould differ from those estimates.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

Beginning with our 2010 Annual Report on FormKOwe will be required to provide enhanced disclesabout our financial receivabl
such as our mortgages and notes receivable, angbtiay for measuring credit losses related to ¢heceivables.

2. ReEAL ESTATE ASSETS
Acquisitions

During the third quarter of 2010, we acquired a,886 square foot office property in Memphis, TN &i0.0 million in cash and t
assumption of secured debt, which was recordediatvilue of $40.3 million with an implied interesite of 6.4%. The debt matures
November 2015. We have incurred or expect to irkud million of acquisitio-related expenses and approximately $2.3 milliomexrterm
building improvements. In connection with this aisifion, we recorded $2.8 million of above markedde intangible assets and $7.1 millic
in-place lease intangible assets with weightedageamortization periods at the time of acquisitibii.3 and 5.9 years, respectively.

Dispositions

During the second quarter of 2010, we sold sevéoeoproperties in Winston Salem, NC for gross pexts of $12.9 million. In connecti
with this disposition, we received cash of $4.5lionl and provided seller financing of $8.4 milligrecorded at fair value of $8.4 million
mortgages and notes receivable) and committechtbug to an additional $1.7 million for tenant impements and lease commissions, of w
$0.2 million was funded as of September 30, 201@ fhree-year, interesnly first mortgage carries a 6.0% average inter@st. Assuming r
default exists, the note can be extended by therbigy two additional ongear periods, subject to an increase in the intests to 7.0% in tr
fourth year and to 8.0% in the fifth year. We haeeounted for this disposition using the installim@ethod, whereby the $0.4 million gain
disposition of property has been deferred andhelfecognized when the seller financing is repaid.

During the second quarter of 2010, we also soldnslystrial properties in Greensboro, NC for grpssceeds of $12.0 million. In connect
with this disposition, we received cash of $3.4ligril and provided seller financing of $8.6 milligrecorded at fair value of $8.6 million
mortgages and notes receivable) and a limitedgeatantee with maximum exposure to loss of $1.0aniks of September 30, 2010. The three-
year, interestnly first mortgage carries a 6.25% average intaee. Assuming no default exists, the note caextended by the buyer for t
additional oneyear periods, subject to an increase in the inteats to 7.0% in the fourth year and to 7.75%hia fifth year. We currently ha
concluded that a loss from the rent guarantee tiprabable. We have accounted for this dispositisimg the installment method, whereby
$0.3 million impairment was recognized in net giinsses) on disposition of discontinued operatiorthe second quarter of 2010.

During the first quarter of 2010, we recorded a ptated sale in connection with the disposition ofadfice property in Raleigh, NC in t

fourth quarter of 2009 where the buyeright to compel us to repurchase the propertyrestpAccordingly, we recognized the $0.2 millioairg
on disposition of property in the first quarter2@f10.
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

NoOTES To CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per uit data)

3. INVESTMENT IN AFFILIATES
Unconsolidated Affiliates

We have equity interests ranging from 10.0% to %0il various joint ventures with unrelated thirdtpes. The following table sets forth
combined, summarized income statements for ournsatwated joint ventures:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
Income Statements:
Revenues $ 25,50¢ $ 35,15( $ 90,77¢ $ 108,61:
Expenses:
Rental property and other expen 12,09¢ 17,28: 43,75 52,85!
Depreciation and amortizatic 6,364 8,651 23,00¢ 25,50¢
Interest expens 5,907 8,53¢ 21,31 25,947
Total expense 24,36 34,47°¢ 88,06’ 104,30t
Income before disposition of property 1,141 67¢ 2,707 4,30¢
Gains/(losses) on disposition of prope — (463 — 2,96¢
Net income $ 1,14] $ 212 $ 2,70_1 $ 7,27:]
Our share of:
Net income(l) $ 1,03: $ 66¢ $ 2,7OE $ 3,77£
Depreciation and amortization of real estate a: $ 2,07¢ $ 3311 % 8,071 $ 8,90¢
|nterest expens $ 2,166 $ 3,4GE $ 8,29‘ $ 10,53.
Gain/(loss) on disposition of propel $ = $4(1;9€) $ =9 582
(1) Our share of net income differs from our wegghaverage ownership percentage in the joint vegstaet income due to our purchi

accounting and other adjustments related primégsilpanagement and leasing fe

During the second quarter of 2010, we sold our tggnterests in a series of unconsolidated joimtuees relating to properties in [
Moines, IA. The assets in the joint ventures ineldi@.5 million square feet of office (1.7 millioguzre feet), industrial (788,000 square feet,
retail (45,000 square feet) properties, as well & apartment units. In connection with the closing received $15.0 million in cash. We h:
negative book basis in certain of the joint versuprimarily as a result of prior cash distribusdo the partners. Accordingly, we recorded
on disposition of investment in unconsolidatedliatés of $25.3 million in the second quarter ol@0As of the closing date, the joint ventt
had approximately $170 million of secured debt, ahhiwas norrecourse to us except (1) in the case of custoraacgptions pertaining
matters such as misuse of funds, borrower bankyupigpermitted transfers, environmental conditiangl material misrepresentations anc
approximately $9.0 million of direct and indireatagantees. We have been released by the applilatders from all such direct and indir
guarantees and we have no ongoing lender lialbdigting to such customary exceptions to necsurse liability with respect to most, but ndt
of the debt. The buyer has agreed to indemnify laold us harmless from any and all future losse$ We suffer as a result of our pr
investment in the joint ventures (other than lostiesctly resulting from our acts or omissions).the event we are exposed to any such fi
loss, our financial condition and results of opiers would not be adversely affected unless thebdgfaults on its indemnification obligation.

29




(Table of Contents)
HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

NoOTES To CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per uit data)

3. NVESTMENT IN AFFILIATES - Continued
Consolidated Affiliates

We own a majority interest in Plaza ResidentialCL{“Plaza Residential”), a joint venture which wasmed to develop and sell 139 feale
residential condominiums constructed above an ®ffower developed by us in Raleigh, NC. Bate residential condominiums in
Consolidated Balance Sheets include 30 and 40 eaiethl but unsold, condominiums owned by Plaza Resia at September 30, 2010 .
December 31, 2009, respectively. We initially recaeceipts of earnest money deposits in accounysbba, accrued expenses and c
liabilities in accordance with the deposit methdéée then record completed sales when units closdgtentemaining net cash is received. Du
the three months ended September 30, 2010 and 2@08eceived $0.6 million and $2.9 million, respesly, in gross proceeds and recor
$0.5 million and $2.7 million, respectively, of ¢osf goods sold from condominium sales activity.ridg the nine months end
September 30, 2010 and 2009, we received $4.0omidind $8.4 million, respectively, in gross proceadd had $3.6 million and $7.6 milli
respectively, of cost of goods sold from condomimisales activity.

4. DEFERRED FINANCING AND LEASING COSTS
The following table sets forth total deferred ficarg and leasing costs, net of accumulated amdidiza

September 30 December 31

2010 2009
Deferred financing cos $ 17,07¢ $ 16,81:
Less accumulated amortizati (6,915 (4,549
10,16 12,26
Deferred leasing cos 113,13¢ 108,83!
Less accumulated amortizati (48,22¢) (47,58()
64,90¢ 61,25t
Deferred financing and leasing costs, net $ 75,06¢ $ 73,51
Amortization of deferred financing and leasing sosere as follows:
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
Amortization of deferred financing cos $ 85¢ $ 627 $ 2,52¢ $ 1,97¢
Amortization of lease commissions (included in égation and amortizatior $ 391 % 3,80¢ $ 11,49 $ 11,59¢
Amortization of lease incentives (included in rémad other revenue $ 27C $ 31€ $ 807 $ 86€
The following table sets forth scheduled future dimation for deferred financing and leasing costs:
Amortization
of Deferred Amortization Amortization
Financing of Lease of Lease
Costs Commissions Incentives
September 30, 2010 through December 31, : $ 78€ $ 3,855 $ 261
2011 2,68( 13,82t 982
2012 2,52¢ 11,39( 881
2013 897 9,151 682
2014 52C 7,01¢ 512
Thereafter 2,75( 14,947 1,40¢
$ 10,16 $ 60,18 $ 4,72F
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HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

NoOTES To CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(tabular dollar amounts in thousands, except per uit data)

4, DFERRED FINANCING AND LEASING CosTs - Continued

The weighted average remaining amortization perfodsleferred financing and leasing costs werey@#s and 6.3 years, respectively
of September 30, 2010.

5. MORTGAGES AND NOTES PAYABLE
The following table sets forth our consolidated tgages and notes payable:

September 3C December 31

2010 2009
Secured indebtedness $ 763,10° $ 720,72
Unsecured indebtedness 738,51° 748,42¢
Total mortgages and notes payable $ 150162 $ 146915

At September 30, 2010, our secured mortgage loane secured by real estate assets with an aggregdépreciated book value of $
billion.

Our $400.0 million unsecured revolving credit fagilis scheduled to mature on February 21, 2013 ianllides an accordion feature 1
allows for an additional $50.0 million of borrowirgapacity subject to additional lender commitme/tssuming we continue to have th
publicly announced ratings from the credit ratirgercies, the interest rate and facility fee underrevolving credit facility are based on
lower of the two highest publicly announced ratingased on our current credit ratings, the interats is LIBOR plus 290 basis points and
annual facility fee is 60 basis points. There wame amounts outstanding under our revolving crediility at September 30, 2010 ¢
October 21, 2010. At September 30, 2010 and Octbe?010, we had $1.1 million of outstanding lett®f credit, which reduces 1
availability on our revolving credit facility. As aesult, the unused capacity of our revolving drddtility at September 30, 2010 ¢
October 21, 2010 was $398.9 million.

Our $70.0 million secured construction facility, which $52.1 million was outstanding at Septemtr2®10, is initially scheduled
mature on December 20, 2010. The outstanding balamareased in the third quarter of 2010 due touthe of proceeds to reduce the bal
outstanding under a bank term loan due in Marci228%suming no defaults have occurred, we havepgtio extend the maturity date for 1
successive ongear periods. During the third quarter of 2010,suémitted our notice to extend the maturity datebg year. Upon payment
the extension fee and assuming no default exidbeaember 20, 2010, the facility will be extendedillDecember 20, 2011. The interest ra
LIBOR plus 85 basis points. This facility had $1m8lion of availability at September 30, 2010 abdtober 21, 2010.

We are currently in compliance with all debt covaiseand requirements.
6. CERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

We had no outstanding interest rate hedge contea@sptember 30, 2010 or December 31, 2009. Tleviag table sets forth the effect
our past cash-flow hedges on accumulated other mmpsive loss (“AOCL") and interest expense:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
Derivatives Designated as Ca«-flow Hedges:
Unrealized gain recognized in AOCL on derivativeBective portion).
Interest rate hedge contra $ — 3 177° % — 3 591
(Gain)/lossreclassified out of AOCL into interest expensedefive portion’:
Interest rate hedge contra $ (25 % (89 $ 26z $ (228
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7. NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS
Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Affiliates

Noncontrolling interests in consolidated affiliatesdates to our respective joint venture partn&@.0% interest in Highwoodstarkel
Associates, LLC and both legal and estimated ecanorterests of 7% in Plaza Residential. Each aof joint venture partners is an unrele
third party.

8. DscLosSURE ABOUT FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following summarizes the three levels of inphigt we use to measure fair value, as well asafisets, noncontrolling interests in
Operating Partnership and liabilities that we retpg at fair value using those levels of inputs.

Level 1. Quoted prices in active markets for identicaktsor liabilities.

Our Level 1 assets are investments in marketalolerisies which we use to pay benefits under our-goalified deferred compensation pl
Our Level 1 noncontrolling interests in the OpergtPartnership relate to the ownership of Commoitstby various individuals and entit
other than the Company. Our Level 1 liability ig aon-qualified deferred compensation obligation.

Level 2. Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, sichumted prices for similar assets or liabilitigapted prices in markets that
not active; or other inputs that are observableaor be corroborated by observable market dataufostantially the full term of the related as
or liabilities. We had no Level 2 assets or liakes at September 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009.

Level 3. Unobservable inputs that are supported by littlenormarket activity and that are significant to fag value of the assets
liabilities.

Our Level 3 assets are our tax increment finanbimgd, which is not routinely traded but whose failue is determined using an estimat
projected redemption value based on quoted biddasks for similar unrated municipal bonds, and estate assets recorded at fair value
non-recurring basis as a result of our quarterlydinment analysis, which were valued using indepahdppraisals.

The following tables set forth the assets and liighthat we measure at fair value by level withire fair value hierarchy. We determine
level based on the lowest level of substantive insed to determine fair value.

Level 1 Level 3
Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets for
Identical Significant
September 30 Assets or Unobservable
2010 Liabilities Inputs
Assets:
Marketable securities of non-qualified deferred pemsation plan (in prepaid
expenses and other asst $ 3,232 $ 3,232 % —
Tax increment financing bond (in prepaid expensesather assets) 17,34 — 17,34:
Total Assets $ 20,57¢ % 323 % 17,34:
Liability:
Non-qualified deferred compensation obligation (in@aats payable, accrued
expenses and other liabilitie $ 3,846 $ 3,84t $ —
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8. DscLoSURE ABOUT FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued
Level 1 Level 3
Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets for
Identical Significant
December 31 Assets or Unobservable
2009 Liabilities Inputs
Assets:
Marketable securities of n-qualified deferred compensation pl $ 6,13t $ 6,13t $ —
Tax increment financing bor 16,87: — 16,871
Impaired real estate ass 32,00( — 32,00(
Total Assets $ 55,00( $ 6,135 $ 48,87]
Liability:
Non-qualified deferred compensation obligat $ 6,89t $ 6,.89¢ $ —
The following table sets forth our Level 3 asset:
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30 September 30
2010 2009 2010 2009
Asset:
Tax Increment Financing Bond
Beginning balanc $ 17,017 $ 17,66( $ 16,87: $ 17,46¢
Unrealized gain (in AOCL 32¢ 25¢ 471 451
Ending balanci $ 17,34: $ 17,915 $ 17,34: $ 17,915

In the fourth quarter of 2007, we acquired a taxxement financing bond associated with a propegtyetbped by us. This bond amortize
maturity in 2020. The estimated fair value at Seiiter 30, 2010 was $1.9 million below the outstagdinincipal due on the bond. If the yield-
to-maturity used to fair value this bond was 10Bibaoints higher, the fair value of the bond wohil/e been $0.8 million lower as
September 30, 2010. If the yield-toaturity used to fair value this bond was 100 basisits lower, the fair value of the bond would édeel
$0.8 million higher as of September 30, 2010. Cutye we intend to hold this bond and have conctutieat we will not be required to sell t
bond before recovery of the bond principal. Paymenthe principal and interest for the bond is guaeed by us and, therefore, we t
recorded no credit losses related to the bonderthhee and nine months ended September 30, 2@LACGOY. There is no legal right of off
with the liability, which we report as a financingligation, related to this tax increment financband.
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8. DscLosURE ABoUT FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — Continued

The following table sets forth the carrying amouamsl fair values of our financial instruments:

Carrying
Amount Fair Value

September 30, 201!

Cash and cash equivale $ 20,937 $ 20,937
Restricted cas $ 4,751 $ 4,757
Accounts , mortgages and notes receiv. $ 42,36¢ $ 42,481
Marketable securities of n-qualified deferred compensation pl $ 3232 % 3,232
Tax increment financing bor $ 17,34: $ 17,34:
Mortgages and notes payal $ 1,501,62: $ 1,597,62.
Financing obligation $ 33,62t $ 22,86
Non-qualified deferred compensation obligat $ 3,84¢ $ 3,84¢
December 31, 200!

Cash and cash equivale! $ 23,51¢ $ 23,51¢
Restricted cas $ 6,841 $ 6,841
Accounts, mortgages and notes receiv: $ 2421: $ 24,21:
Marketable securities of n-qualified deferred compensation pl $ 6,13t $ 6,13¢
Tax increment financing bor $ 16,871 $ 16,871
Mortgages and notes payal $ 1,469,15' $ 1,440,371
Financing obligation $ 37,70¢ $ 31,66¢
Non-qualified deferred compensation obligat $ 6,89¢ $ 6,89¢

The carrying values of our cash and cash equivaleastricted cash, accounts receivable, marketstarities of nomualified deferre
compensation plan, tax increment financing bond reordqualified deferred compensation obligation are étuar approximate fair value. T
fair values of our mortgages and notes receivahlatgages and notes payable and financing obligatieere estimated using the incom
market approaches to approximate the price thatldvbe paid in an orderly transaction between maraticipants on the respect
measurement dates.
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9. S$ARE-BASED PAYMENTS

During the nine months ended September 30, 20E0Citmpany granted 190,826 stock options at an iseeprice equal to the closi
market price of a share of its Common Stock ondde of grant. The fair value of each option gliargstimated on the date of grant using
Black-Scholes option pricing model, which resulie@ weightedaverage grant date fair value per share of $4.98inD the nine months enc
September 30, 2010, the Company also granted 8%b&tes of time-based restricted stock and 78,hates of total returbased restricte
stock with weighted-average grant date fair vajpesshare of $29.05 and $29.75, respectively. Werded stockased compensation expe
of $1.6 million each during the three months en8egdtember 30, 2010 and 2009 and $5.1 million an?l $lion during the nine months enc
September 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively. At Sapte 30, 2010, there was $8.4 million of total wognized stoclbased compensation co
which will be recognized over a weighted averageaiaing contractual term of 1.7 years.

10. CGOMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

The following table sets forth the components ohpeehensive income:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30 September 30
2010 2009 2010 2009
Net income $ 8,78t $ 12,56( $ 60,90¢ $ 62,78:
Other comprehensive income/(los
Unrealized gain on tax increment financing bt 32t 25¢ 471 451
Unrealized gains on cs-flow hedges — 177 — 591
Amortization of past ca-flow hedges (25) (89) 262 (229)
Settlement of past cash-flow hedge from dispositibimvestment in
unconsolidated affiliat — — 10 —
Total other comprehensive incor 30C 347 83€ 81
Total comprehensive incon $ 908 $ 12900 $ 61,74 $ 63,59

The following table sets forth the components of AO

September 3C December 31

2010 2009
Tax increment financing bond $ 1,89t $ 2,36¢€
Past cas-flow hedges 1,08( 1,44¢
Total accumulated other comprehensive loss $ 2,97¢ $ 3,811
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The following table sets forth our operations whietjuired classification as discontinued operations

Rental and other revenues

Operating expenses

Rental property and other expen

Depreciation and amortizatic
Total operating expens:

Other income

Income before net gains/(losses) on disposition discontinued operations
Net gains/(losses) on disposition of discontinupdrations

Total discontinued operations

The following table sets forth the major classeassets and liabilities of the properties classifie held for sale:

Assets:
Land

Buildings and tenant improvements
Land held for development

Total real estate assets
Less accumulated depreciation

Net real estate ass¢
Deferred leasing costs, r
Accrued straight line rents receival
Prepaid expenses and other assets

Real estate and other assets, net, held for s:
Liabilities of real estate and other assets, radt for sale(1)

() Included in accounts payable, accrued expensesthed liabilities.
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Three Months Ended

Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2009 2010 2009
$ 145t $ 1432 $ 7,837

48¢ 65€ 3,01(
322 36E 1,60¢
81C 1,021 4,61¢

1 — 2

64€ 411 3,22(

(377) (86) 20,63¢

$ 26€ $ 328 $ 283,85¢

September 3C December 31
2010 2009

$ — % 867

— 3,87¢

1,215 1,197

1,217 5,94(

— (1,48¢)

1,217 4,45¢

— 20¢

— 28¢

32 77

$ 1,24¢ $ 5,031

$ 12 $ 12
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12. EARNINGS PER UNIT

The following table sets forth the computation aéie and diluted earnings per Common Unit:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
Earnings per Common Unit- basic:
Numerator:
Income from continuing operatiol $ 8,78¢ $ 12,291 $ 60,58: $ 38,92:
Net (income)/loss attributable to noncontrollingeirests in consolidated affiliat
from continuing operation 14¢ (24) (281) (158)
Distributions on Preferred Uni (1,675 (1,677 (5,039 (5,039
Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholder: 7,25¢ 10,59( 55,271 33,73¢
Income from discontinued operations available fanmon unitholders — 26¢ 32t 23,85¢
Net income available for common unithold $ 7,25¢ $ 10,85¢ $ 55,59 $ 57,99
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per Common - weighted average uni(1) —_01¢  r454: 7494 70,56¢
Earnings per Common Ur- basic:
Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholder: $ 0.1C $ 0.1t $ 0.74 $ 0.4¢
Income from discontinued operations available fanmon unitholder — — — 0.34
Net income available for common unithold $ 0.1C $ 0.1t $ 0.74 $ 0.8z
Earnings per Common Unit- diluted:
Numerator:
Income from continuing operatiol $ 8,78¢ $ 12,291 $ 60,58: $ 38,92:
Net (income)/loss attributable to noncontrollingeirests in consolidated affiliat
from continuing operatior 14¢ (24) (281) (158
Distributions on Preferred Uni (1,677 (1,677 (5,039 (5,039
Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholder: 7,25¢ 10,59( 55,271 33,73¢
Income from discontinued operations available fanmon unitholders — 26¢ 32t 23,85¢
Net income available for common unithold $ 7,25¢ $ 10,85¢ § 55,59 $ 57,59
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per Common weighted average uni 75,01¢ 74,54: 74,94t 70,56:
Add:
Stock options using the treasury method 21C 121 183 52
Denominator for diluted earnings per Common Uraitjusted weighted averay
units and assumed conversi(1) 75,22 74,66¢ 75,12¢ 70,61%
Earnings per Common Ur- diluted:
Income from continuing operations available for coom unitholder: $ 0.1C $ 0.1t $ 0.74 $ 0.4¢
Income from discontinued operations available fammon unitholder — — — 0.34
Net income available for common unithold $ 0.1C $ 0.1t $ 0.74 % 0.8z
) Options and warrants aggregating 0.7 million ardrfillion units were outstanding during the threemihs ended September 30, 2

and 2009, respectively, and 0.7 million and 1.2liaml units were outstanding during the nine morghsled September 30, 2010
2009, respectively, but were not included in thenpatation of diluted earnings per Common Unit baeeatle impact of including su
shares would be a-dilutive .
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Our principal business is the operation, acquisiaad development of rental real estate propeifiesevaluate our business by product

and by geographic location. Each product type lifsrent customers and economic characteristiceasntal rates and terms, cost per sc
foot of buildings, the purposes for which customese the space, the degree of maintenance andmerstupport required and custol
dependency on different economic drivers, amonegrsthThe operating results by geographic groupiegaiso regularly reviewed by our ct
operating decision maker for assessing performandeother purposes. There are no material intemeagtransactions.

Our accounting policies of the segments are theesasnthose used in our Consolidated Financial i8tates. All operations are within 1

United States and, at September 30, 2010, no siygtomer of the Wholly Owned Properties generatede than 9.4% of our consolida
revenues on an annualized basis.

The following table summarizes the rental and otteeenues and net operating income, the primarysimyg propertytevel performanc

Three Months Ended

metric which is defined as rental and other reveness rental property and other expenses, for gudrtable segment:

Nine Months Ended

Rental and Other Revenues(1)
Office:

Atlanta, GA
Greenville, SC
Kansas City, MC
Memphis, TN
Nashville, TN
Orlando, FL
Piedmont Triad, N(
Raleigh, NC
Richmond, VA
Tampa, FL

Total Office Segmer
Industrial:
Atlanta, GA
Piedmont Triad, NC

Total Industrial Segmet

Retail:
Kansas City, MC
Piedmont Triad, N(
Raleigh, NC
Total Retail Segmer
Residential
Kansas City, MO

Total Residential Segme

Total Rental and Other
Revenues

September 30 September 30
2010 2009 2010 2009

$ 11,87C $ 12,617 $ 36,06¢ $ 36,21:
3,31 3,42¢ 10,44( 10,66¢
3,67: 3,742 11,04¢ 11,20(
9,692 8,18¢ 24,88¢ 22,61t
14,59¢ 14,90: 44,56 45,49¢
2,92( 3,11¢( 8,98t 8,90:
5,80z 5,72( 17,72 17,57¢
18,81« 18,20¢ 56,07( 54,50¢
12,21( 12,17: 35,48¢ 35,11«
17,83 17,48( 53,81( 50,60(
100,721 99,56: 299,08 292,89!
3,66( 3,90« 11,47¢ 11,77
3,25¢ 2,85¢ 9,32¢ 9,87:
6,91¢ 6,76: 20,80: 21,641
8,10: 6,46¢€ 24,54( 21,75¢
— 47 (40) 161
30 30 10E 90
8,13: 6,541 24,60¢ 22,00¢
28¢ 30z 96¢ 897
28¢ 30z 96¢ 897
$ 116,06: $ 113,17(  $ 345,45¢ $ 337,44!
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13. BGMENT INFORMATION - Continued
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2010 2009 2010 2009
Net Operating Income: (1)
Office:
Atlanta, GA $ 7,39 % 78%% $ 22,88¢ % 22,92¢
Greenville, SC 1,85¢ 2,01« 6,31¢ 6,651
Kansas City, MC 2,16( 2,34: 6,70€ 6,85
Memphis, TN 5,501 4,84¢ 15,02¢ 12,90¢
Nashville, TN 9,49( 9,71: 29,45 29,68:
Orlando, FL 1,55¢ 1,63 4,89¢ 4,672
Piedmont Triad, NC 3,84: 3,631 11,70¢ 11,545
Raleigh, NC 12,61( 11,94¢ 38,48( 36,77¢
Richmond, VA 7,63 7,83 24,01( 23,92¢
Tampa, FL 10,90: 10,24¢ 32,747 29,66¢
Total Office Segmer 62,95 62,11( 192,23: 185,61:
Industrial:
Atlanta, GA 2,49: 2,90z 8,06¢ 8,91¢€
Piedmont Triad, NC 2,46( 2,08 6,841 7,63¢
Total Industrial Segmel 4,95: 4,99( 14,908 16,55¢
Retail:
Atlanta, GA(2) (5) (6) (26) (18)
Kansas City, MC 4,56¢ 3,49/ 14,68 13,47(
Piedmont Triad, N(22) — (72 (40 18
Raleigh, NC(2) 10 €)) 29 9
Total Retail Segmer 4,574 3,41¢ 14,65 13,47¢
Residential
Kansas City, MC 16¢€ 162 594 51€
Raleigh, NC2) (90) (72) (265) (210)
Total Residential Segme 78 91 32¢ 30€
Total Net Operating
Income 72,55¢ 70,60¢ 222,12 215,95:
Reconciliation to income from continuing operationsbefore
disposition of property, condominiums and investmenin
unconsolidated affiliates and equity in earnings of
unconsolidated affiliates:
Depreciation and amortizatic (34,28)) (32,367 (100,363) (97,590)
General and administrative expel (8,882) (9,485 (24,579 (27,537)
Interest expens (23,339 (21,339 (69,385 (64,659
Interest and other incon 1,62¢ 3,981 4,291 7,90z
Income from continuing operations before dispogitid property,
condominiums and investment in unconsolidatediaféis and . .
equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia $ 7,68: $ 11,40. $ 32,08t $ 34,07¢
) Net of discontinued operatior
(2) Negative NOI with no corresponding revenues reprissexpensed real estate taxes and other carrgstg associated with land held

development that is currently zoned for the respegiroduct type
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FI NANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The Company is a fully integrated, self-administieend selfmanaged equity REIT that provides leasing, managgnevelopmen
construction and other custonretated services for our properties and for thiedtips. The Company conducts virtually all of ittiaties
through the Operating Partnership and is its seleeal partner. At September 30, 2010, we ownedadran interest in 329 iservice office
industrial and retail properties, encompassing @agdprately 32.3 million square feet, which include®e recently developed office property
had not yet reached the earlier of original pragdcstabilization date or 95% occupancy aggregat#®y000 square feet, two office proper
under development aggregating 231,000 square feed d2.5% interest in a 261,000 square foot offioperty directly owned by the Comp:
(included in the Company’s Consolidated Financigt&nents, but not included in the Operating Pastip’s Consolidated Financ
Statements); 30 fosale residential condominiums and 96 rental resialeunits. We are based in Raleigh, North Carglavad our properties a
development land are located in Florida, GeorgigshMsippi, Missouri, North Carolina, South CaralimTennessee and Virginia. Additio
information about us can be found on our websitgvaiv.highwoods.com Information on our website is not part of thisaprerly Report.

You should read the following discussion and analirs conjunction with the accompanying Consolidiakénancial Statements and rele
notes contained elsewhere in this Quarterly Report.

DISCLOSURE REGARDING FORWARD-L OOKING STATEMENTS

Some of the information in this Quarterly Reportyncantain forwardeooking statements. Such statements include, iticodar, statemen
about our plans, strategies and prospects undesdiction and under the heading “Business.” Youidamtify forwardiooking statements by ¢
use of forward-looking terminology such as “mayyill,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “contina” or other similar words. Although \
believe that our plans, intentions and expectatiefiected in or suggested by such forwhrdking statements are reasonable, we cannot ¢
you that our plans, intentions or expectations wdlachieved. When considering such forwlaaking statements, you should keep in minc
following important factors that could cause ouuatresults to differ materially from those contd in any forward-looking statement:

" o« ” o

« the financial condition of our customers could detate;

- we may not be able to lease or release seconda@mespace, defined as previously occupied spzetebiecomes available for lee
quickly or on as favorable terms as old lea

- Wwe may not be able to lease our newly constructéldibgs as quickly or on as favorable terms aginélly anticipated,;

« we may not be able to complete development, ad@nsreinvestment, disposition or joint venturejects as quickly or on as favora
terms as anticipate:

« development activity by our competitors in our &rig markets could result in an excessive supploffite, industrial and ret:
properties relative to customer dema

« our Southeastern and Midwestern United States rtsarkay suffer declines in economic growth;
« unanticipated increases in interest rates couletase our debt service costs;

- we may not be able to meet our liquidity requiretaear obtain capital on favorable terms to fund working capital needs and grov
initiatives or to repay or refinance outstandingtdgpon maturity; an

« the Company could lose key executive officers.
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This list of risks and uncertainties, however, & mtended to be exhaustive. You should also mewtee other cautionary statements
make in “ltem 1A. Business — Risk Factors” sethdrt our 2009 Annual Report on Form KO-Given these uncertainties, you should not
undue reliance on forward-looking statements. Wieatiake no obligation to publicly release the rssaf any revisions to these forwdmbking
statements to reflect any future events or circantsts or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipatezhts.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Our Strategic Plan focuses on:

« owning high-quality, differentiated real estateedssn the better submarkets in our core markets; a
« maintaining a conservative, flexible balance skgtt ample liquidity to meet our funding needs gmndwth prospects.

Execution of our Plan includes (1) growing net @pieig income at our existing properties throughoemrrated leasing, asset manage!
and customer service efforts and (2) developing@riies in in-fill locations and acquiring strategiroperties that are accretive to lolegs
earnings and stockholder value. While we own aretaip a limited number of industrial, retail andidential properties, our operating res
depend heavily on successfully leasing and opeyatim office properties. Economic growth in Flori@eorgia, North Carolina and Tennessi
and will continue to be an important determinati&etor in predicting our future operating resul@ur portfolio has changed significantly o
the past five years and now consists of a highepgmtion of Class A and B properties, which areegalty expected to outperform competil
properties in our core markets. We have repositiomer portfolio primarily by selling non-core praties and developing properties infil-
locations. Our real estate professionals are seadsand cycldested. Our senior leadership team has signifiexperience and mainta
important relationships with market participantsach of our core markets. Our focus for the n@nbnths is to lease and operate our exi
portfolio as effectively and efficiently as pos&itdnd acquire and develop additional real estatetashat improve the overall quality of
portfolio and generate attractive returns overltimg-term for our stockholders.

REsuULTS OF OPERATIONS

Results for the three and nine months ended Sepiedtlh 2009 were revised from previously reportesbants to reflect in discontinu
operations the operations for those properties soltld for sale which required discontinued opens presentation.

Three Months Ended September 30, 2010 and 2009
Rental and Other Revenues

Rental and other revenues from continuing operativare 2.6% higher in the third quarter of 201@@®pared to the third quarter of 2(
primarily due to the acquisitions of an office peoly in Tampa, FL in the fourth quarter of 2009 amdoffice property in Memphis, TN in t
third quarter of 2010 and the contribution of deyshent properties recently placed in service. Tinisease is partly offset by slightly lov
average occupancy and lower operating expense egesvifrom lower real estate tax and utilities exgss in our same property portfolio.
expect rental and other revenues for the remaiafi2f10, adjusted for any discontinued operatidmdye relatively unchanged as compare
the same period in 2009.

Operating Expenses

Rental property and other expenses were 2.2% hightiie third quarter of 2010 as compared to thel thuarter of 2009 primarily due
our recent acquisition activity and the contribatiof development properties recently placed in isefvoffset by lower expenses fr
managemensg continuing efforts to reduce operating expensesir same property portfolio. As a result, opetinargin, defined as rental ¢
other revenues less rental property and other egqseexpressed as a percentage of rental and etlesrues, was slightly higher at 62.5% in
third quarter of 2010 as compared to 62.4% in thedtquarter of 2009. We expect the trend for reptaperty and other expenses for
remainder of 2010, adjusted for any discontinuegraiions, to be relatively unchanged as compardidetdame period in 2009 for primarily
same factors.
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Depreciation and amortization was 5.9% higher m tthird quarter of 2010 as compared to the thirdrigm of 2009 primarily due to ¢
recent acquisition activity and the contribution ddvelopment properties recently placed in serwile. expect depreciation expense for
remainder of 2010, adjusted for any discontinuedratons, to be higher over the same period in 2008 to recent acquisitions and
contribution of development projects recently pthoeservice.

General and administrative expenses were 6.4% lawire third quarter of 2010 as compared to tlivel thuarter of 2009 primarily due
lower deferred compensation expense from a deciaabe value of marketable securities held underrmngqualified deferred compensat
plan, lower short-term incentive compensation, Eweer expenses from managemsntontinuing efforts to reduce general and adnmtist
expenses. We expect general and administrativensegefor the remainder of 2010, adjusted for chaugealue of marketable securities t
under our deferred compensation plan, to be lower the same period in 2009 due to lower skemta incentive compensation and lo
expenses from management’s continuing effortsdace general and administrative expenses.

Other Income

Other income was $2.4 million lower in the thirdagter of 2010 as compared to the third quarter0®0Zprimarily due to a decrease in
value of marketable securities held under our qoalified deferred compensation plan and gains @t @xtinguishment and environmei
settlement in 2009.

Interest Expense

Interest expense was 9.4% higher in the third quart 2010 as compared to the third quarter of 200®arily due to lower capitaliz
interest from decreased development in proceshghigebt balances from the assumption of $40.3amibf debt related to the acquisition of
office property in Memphis, TN in the third quartefr2010 and higher fees on our new revolving d¢réatiility. We expect interest expense
the remainder of 2010 to be higher over the samiegée 2009 due to lower capitalized interest frdecreased development in process, h
debt balances from the assumption of debt relatdte acquisition of the Memphis office propertyddrigher fees on our new revolving cr
facility.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2010 and 2009
Rental and Other Revenues

Rental and other revenues from continuing operatiare 2.4% higher in the nine months ended SemeBth 2010 as compared to
same period in 2009 primarily due to our recentusition activity and the contribution of developmigroperties recently placed in serv
partly offset by lower operating expense recovefries lower real estate tax and utilities expenses.
Operating Expenses

Rental property and other expenses were 1.5% hightte nine months ended September 30, 2010 aparaah to the same period in 2!
primarily due to our recent acquisition activitydatihe contribution of development properties relyeptaced in service. As a result, opera

margin was higher at 64.2% in the nine months er@gatember 30, 2010 as compared to 63.9% in tleemonths ended September 30, 2009.

Depreciation and amortization was 2.8% higher i@ tine months ended September 30, 2010 as comparde same period in 20
primarily due to our recent acquisition activitydatine contribution of development properties relggpiaiced in service.

General and administrative expenses were 10.7%r lmwbe nine months ended September 30, 2010rapa@d to the same period in 2
primarily due to lower deferred compensation expecsused by a decrease in the value of marketablgises held under our naqualifiec
deferred compensation plan, lower compensationscivetn lower headcount, lower short and ldagn incentive compensation, and lo
expenses from management’s continuing effortsdace general and administrative expenses.
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Other Income

Other income was $3.6 million lower in the nine riitnended September 30, 2010 as compared to the menod in 2009 primarily due

a decrease in the value of marketable securititesb Ureder our norgualified deferred compensation plan and gains efst éxtinguishment al
environmental settlement in 2009.

Interest Expense

Interest expense was 7.3% higher in the nine moatided September 30, 2010 as compared to the samoel [n 2009 primarily due
lower capitalized interest resulting from decreagedelopment in process, higher debt balances ftmmassumption of debt related to
acquisition of one office property in Memphis, TiNthe third quarter of 2010 and higher fees onnauv revolving credit facility.

Gains on Disposition of I nvestment in Unconsolidated Affiliates and Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Affiliates

Gains on disposition of investment in unconsolidaafiliates were $25.3 million higher in the nimonths ended September 30, 201
compared to the same period in 2009 due to theslispn of our equity interests in a series of ursmidated joint ventures relating to propel
in Des Moines, IA. Equity in earnings of unconsateld affiliates was $1.1 million lower in the nineonths ended September 30, 201
compared to the same period in 2009 primarily dudhé disposition of one office property in oneoaf unconsolidated joint ventures in 2009.

Discontinued Operations

Discontinued operations were $23.5 million lowertlie nine months ended September 30, 2010 as cethparthe same period in 2(
primarily due to the disposition of three retaibperties in Kansas City, MO in 2009.
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LiQuibITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Overview

Our goal is to maintain a conservative and flexibédance sheet with access to multiple sourcesbf dnd equity capital and suffici
availability under our credit facilities. We genliyause rents received from customers to fund quarating expenses, capital expenditures
distributions. To fund property acquisitions, deghent activity or building renovations and repaptdupon maturity, we may use current (
balances, sell assets, obtain new debt, use oalviey credit facility and/or issue equity. Our degjenerally consists of mortgage debt, unsec
debt securities and borrowings under our securddiasecured credit facilities.
Statements of Cash Flows

We report and analyze our cash flows based on tipgractivities, investing activities and financiagtivities. The following table sets fo
the changes in the Company’s cash flows ($ in thods):

Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2010 2009 Change
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 142,65 $ 154,82¢ $ (12,179
Net cash (used in) investing activities (37,52¢) (44,629 7,09¢
Net cash (used in) financing activities (107,859 (81,899 (25,965
Total net cash flows $ (2,73G$  2831: $ (31,0454

In calculating cash flow from operating activitigggpreciation and amortization, which are maish expenses, are added back to net in
As a result, we have historically generated a pasamount of cash from operating activities. Frpemiod to period, cash flow from operati
depends primarily upon changes in our net incorsegliscussed more fully above under “Results of @j@rs,” changes in receivables ¢
payables, and net additions or decreases in oualbypertfolio, which affect the amount of deprdtda and amortization expense.

Cash used in or provided by investing activitieaagally relates to capitalized costs incurred &asing and major building improveme
and our acquisition, development, disposition adtjventure capital activity. During periods o§sificant net acquisition and/or developrr
activity, our cash used in such investing actigitieill generally exceed cash provided by investingjvities, which typically consists of ce
received upon the sale of properties and distrimstiof capital from our joint ventures.

Cash used in or provided by financing activitieaally relates to distributions, incurrence angagenent of debt and issuanc
repurchases or redemptions of Common Stock, Comldmits and Preferred Stock. As discussed previowstyuse a significant amount of «
cash to fund distributions. Whether or not we henggeases in the outstanding balances of debt glariperiod depends generally upon the
effect of our acquisition, disposition, developmantl joint venture activity. We generally use oevalving credit facility for working capit
purposes, which means that during any given pefiodrder to minimize interest expense, we may meésggnificant repayments and borrowi
under our revolving credit facility.

Cash provided by operating activities was $12.2ionillower in the nine months ended September 8202as compared to the same pe
in 2009 primarily due to the impact of dispositicensd lower cash rents in our same property poafgartly offset by higher cash rents fr
recently acquired buildings, the contribution of’elepment properties recently placed in servicelaghter lease termination fees.

Cash used in investing activities was $7.1 milllower in the nine months ended September 30, 281€ompared to the same perio
2009 primarily due to lower development activitias2010, partly offset by the acquisition of anicdf building in Memphis, TN in the thi
quarter of 2010 and lower dispositions in 2010.

Cash used in financing activities was $26.0 milllagher in the nine months ended September 30, 281dbmpared to the same perio

2009 primarily due to greater reductions in outdtag debt balances in 2009, mostly funded withibe proceeds from our May 2009 eq
offering, and dividends on a higher number of artding shares of Common Stock in 2010.
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Capitalization
The following table sets forth the Company’s cdjztion (in thousands, except per share amounts):

September 3C December 31

2010 2009
Mortgages and notes payable, at recorded book ! $ 150162 $ 1,469,15
Financing obligations $ 33,62t $ 37,70¢
Preferred Stock, at liquidation value $ 81,59: $ 81,59:
Common Stock outstanding 71,65¢ 71,28t
Common Units outstanding (not owned by the Comp. 3,79 3,891

Per share stock price at period end $ 32471 $ 33.3¢
Market value of Common Stock and Common U $ 244995 $ 2,507,12
$

Total market capitalization with debt and obligat 4,066,800 $ 4,095,557

Our mortgages and notes payable represented 36f9%r dotal market capitalization and were comptisd $763.1 million of securt
indebtedness with a weighted average interespfeel 5% and $738.5 million of unsecured indebtsdneith a weighted average interest ra
5.43%. At September 30, 2010, our outstanding nageg and notes payable and financing obligatione secured by real estate assets wi
aggregate undepreciated book value of $1.2 hillion.

Current and Future Cash Needs

Rental and other revenues are our principal soofdands to meet our short-term liquidity requirerntse Other sources of funds for short-
term liquidity needs include available working dapand borrowings under our existing revolvingditéacility and secured construction cre
facility (which had $398.9 million and $17.9 milicof availability, respectively, at October 21, BD10ur shorterm liquidity requiremen
primarily consist of operating expenses, interest principal amortization on our debt, distribuscend capital expenditures, including builc
improvement costs, tenant improvement costs argkleammissions. Building improvements are capitatto maintain existing buildings |
related to a specific customer. Tenant improvemareshe costs required to customize space fospkeific needs of customers in spaces |
than in new development projects. We anticipat¢ ¢hia available cash and cash equivalents and masthded by operating activities, toget
with cash available from borrowings under our aréatiilities, will be adequate to meet our shortytdiquidity requirements.

Our longterm liquidity uses generally consist of the retimnt or refinancing of debt upon maturity (incluglimortgage debt, our revolvi
and construction credit facilities, term loans atlder unsecured debt), funding of existing and bevlding development or land infrastruct
projects and funding acquisitions of buildings alevelopment land. Excluding capital expendituresléasing costs and tenant improvem
and for normal building improvements, our expedigdre capital expenditures for started and/or cdtteish new development/redevelopir
projects were approximately $13.2 million at SegienB0, 2010. Additionally, we may, from time tm#, retire some or all of our remain
outstanding Preferred Stock and/or unsecured dehirisies through redemptions, open market repwehgorivately negotiated acquisition:
otherwise.

We expect to meet our liquidity needs through altoation of:

« cash flow from operating activities;

o borrowings under our credit facilities;

- the issuance of unsecured debt;

« theissuance of secured debt;

« the issuance of equity securities by the Comparth@Operating Partnership; and
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« the disposition of non-core assets.

Recent Acquisition Activity

During the third quarter of 2010, we acquired a,886 square foot office property in Memphis, TN &#0.0 million in cash and t
assumption of secured debt, which was recordediatvilue of $40.3 million with an implied interesite of 6.4%. The debt matures
November 2015. We have incurred or expect to irapproximately $2.3 million of ne-term building improvements and $0.4 million
acquisition-related expenses.

Financing Activity

Our $400.0 million unsecured revolving credit fagilis scheduled to mature on February 21, 2013 ianllides an accordion feature 1
allows for an additional $50.0 million of borrowingapacity subject to additional lender commitmeatssuming we continue to have th
publicly announced ratings from the credit ratingercies, the interest rate and facility fee underrevolving credit facility are based on
lower of the two highest publicly announced ratingased on our current credit ratings, the interatgt is LIBOR plus 290 basis points and
annual facility fee is 60 basis points. We expeatige our revolving credit facility for working dégd purposes and for the shaetsm funding o
our development and acquisition activity and, intae instances, the repayment of other debt. @airtg ability to borrow under the revolvi
credit facility allows us to quickly capitalize @trategic opportunities at shderm interest rates. There were no amounts outstgnohder oL
revolving credit facility at September 30, 2010 aBdtober 21, 2010. At September 30, 2010 and Oct@be?2010, we had $1.1 million
outstanding letters of credit, which reduces thailability on our revolving credit facility. As asult, the unused capacity of our revolving ci
facility at September 30, 2010 and October 21, 2048 $398.9 million.

Our $70.0 million secured construction facility, which $52.1 million was outstanding at Septemil®r2010, is initially scheduled
mature on December 20, 2010. Assuming no defaalt® loccurred, we have options to extend the muwtddte for two successive ogeal
periods. During the third quarter of 2010, we subediour notice to extend the maturity date by ye&r. Upon payment of the extension fee
assuming no default exists at December 20, 20E0fatility will be extended until December 20, 20The interest rate is LIBOR plus 85 bi
points. This facility had $17.9 million of availdiby at September 30, 2010 and October 21, 2010.

We regularly evaluate the financial condition of fenders that participate in our credit facilitiesng publicly available information. Bas
on this review, we currently expect our lendersiclwlare major financial institutions, to perforneithobligations under our existing facilities.

Covenant Compliance

We are currently in compliance with the covenantd ather requirements with respect to our outstapdiebt. Although we expect
remain in compliance with these covenants and sdto at least the next year, depending upon curéuoperating performance, property
financing transactions and general economic cargitiwe cannot assure you that we will continueetén compliance.

Our revolving credit facility, bank term loan dueRkebruary 2011 ($137.5 million outstanding as efft8mber 30, 2010) and bank term |
due in March 2012 ($10.0 million outstanding asSeptember 30, 2010) require us to comply with aqusiy operating covenants and vari
financial requirements. Additionally, if we were fail to make a payment when due with respect o @rour other obligations with aggreg
unpaid principal of at least $10.0 million, and Isdailure remains uncured for more than 120 days,lénders under our credit facility co
provide notice of their intent to accelerate alloamts due thereunder. Upon an event of defaulhemevolving credit facility, the lenders hav
at least 66.7% of the total commitments under #helving credit facility can accelerate all borrogs then outstanding, and we coulc
prohibited from borrowing any further amounts under revolving credit facility, which would advetgeaffect our ability to fund ot
operations.

The Operating Partnership has $390.9 million ppatiamount of 2017 bonds outstanding and $200.0omiprincipal amount of 201
bonds outstanding. The indenture that governs thasganding notes requires us to comply with qusity operating covenants and vari
financial ratios. The trustee or the holders deast 25% in principal amount of either series afids can accelerate the principal amount of
series upon written notice of a default that rermaincured after 60 days.
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We may not be able to repay, refinance or exterydaarall of our debt at maturity or upon any accafien. If any refinancing is done
higher interest rates, the increased interest esgpenuld adversely affect our cash flow and abtiitypay distributions. Any such refinanc
could also impose tighter financial ratios and ott@venants that restrict our ability to take awsidhat could otherwise be in our best inte
such as funding new development activity, makingasfunistic acquisitions, repurchasing our se@sitr paying distributions.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

During the second quarter of 2010, we sold our tgqguierests in a series of unconsolidated joimituees relating to properties in [
Moines, IA. The assets in the joint ventures ineldi@.5 million square feet of office (1.7 millioguzre feet), industrial (788,000 square feet
retail (45,000 square feet) properties, as well s apartment units. In connection with the closing received $15.0 million in cash. We h
negative book basis in certain of the joint verdumimarily as a result of prior cash distribugdo the partners. Accordingly, we recorded
on disposition of investment in unconsolidatedliafes of $25.3 million in the second quarter ofl@0As of the closing date, the joint ventt
had approximately $170 million of secured debt, alhivas norrecourse to us except (1) in the case of custormacgptions pertaining
matters such as misuse of funds, borrower bankyupigpermitted transfers, environmental conditiangl material misrepresentations anc
approximately $9.0 million of direct and indireatazantees. We have been released by the appligatslers from all such direct and indir
guarantees and we have no ongoing lender lialbditing to such customary exceptions to necsurse liability with respect to most, but ndt
of the debt. The buyer has agreed to indemnify laold us harmless from any and all future losses We suffer as a result of our pr
investment in the joint ventures (other than lostiesctly resulting from our acts or omissions).tihe event we are exposed to any such fi
loss, our financial condition and results of opiera would not be adversely affected unless thebdgfaults on its indemnification obligation.

In connection with the disposition of six induskri@roperties in Piedmont Triad, NC in the secondrtgr of 2010, we entered intc
guarantee agreement with the buyer relating toxestieg 237,500 square foot lease with one custpmio has leased space in the propertie
14 years. This agreement guarantees the paymeaniofor an approximate twygear period from March 2011 through June 2013 énehent th
customer exercises its limited termination right &f September 30, 2010, our maximum exposure uthierrent guarantee agreement
approximately $0.9 million. No accrual has beerorded for this guarantee because we currently bameluded that a loss is not probable.

There were no other significant changes to oubafince sheet arrangements in the nine months Sefgeémber 30, 2010. For informat
regarding our off balance sheet arrangements aéreer 31, 2009, see Note 8 to the ConsolidatednEiakStatements in our 2009 Ann
Report on Form 10-K.

Interest Rate Hedging Activities

To meet, in part, our liquidity requirements, wearbw funds at a combination of fixed and varialdées. Borrowings under our revolv
credit facility, construction facility and bank terloans bear interest at variable rates. Our l@ngr debt, which consists of secured
unsecured longerm financings and the issuance of unsecured sishirities, typically bears interest at fixed raadthough some loans b
interest at variable rates. Our interest rate msinagement objectives are to limit the impact tdriest rate changes on earnings and cash
and to lower our overall borrowing costs. To acbkiglese objectives, from time to time, we enteo imterest rate hedge contracts suc
collars, swaps, caps and treasury lock agreemerdsder to mitigate our interest rate risk withpest to various debt instruments. We do
hold or issue these derivative contracts for trgdinspeculative purposes. The interest rate oof @lr variable rate debt is generally adjuste
one or three month intervals, subject to settlemamtder these interest rate hedge contracts. We eadter into treasury lock or simi
agreements from time to time in order to limit @xposure to an increase in interest rates withesi future debt offerings. We had
outstanding interest rate hedge contracts at Séyte®0, 2010.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

There were no changes made by management to ttiealcaccounting policies in the nine months en@aptember 30, 2010. Fo
description of our critical accounting estimatese $Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Fir@nCondition and Results of Operations -
Critical Accounting Estimates” in our 2009 Annuadrt on Form 10-K.

FunDps FRoM OPERATIONS

The Company believes that FFO and FFO per sharebameficial to management and investors and areoritapt indicators of tt
performance of any equity REIT. Because FFO and p&Gshare calculations exclude such factors asedigpion and amortization of real es
assets and gains or losses from sales of operaah@state assets, which can vary among ownédewfical assets in similar conditions base
historical cost accounting and useful life estirsatidney facilitate comparisons of operating perfance between periods and between 1
REITs. Management believes that historical cosbarting for real estate assets in accordance wRARsimplicitly assumes that the value
real estate assets diminishes predictably over. t8imee real estate values have historically rmefallen with market conditions, many indus
investors and analysts have considered the prégentaf operating results for real estate compaties use historical cost accounting tc
insufficient on a standlone basis. As a result, management believegshkatise of FFO and FFO per share, together withregeired GAAI
presentations, provide a more complete understgndinthe Companyg performance relative to its competitors and aeamaformed an
appropriate basis on which to make decisions irimgloperating, financing and investing activities.

FFO and FFO per share are n@AAP financial measures and therefore do not remteset income or net income per share as defig
GAAP. Net income and net income per share as difine GAAP are the most relevant measures in deténgiithe Companyg operatin
performance because FFO and FFO per share inclljdstments that investors may deem subjective, sischdding back expenses suc
depreciation and amortization. Furthermore, FFO gieare does not depict the amount that accruestlgireo the stockholdersbenefit
Accordingly, FFO and FFO per share should nevecdmesidered as alternatives to net income or neiniec per share as indicators of
Company’s operating performance.

The Companys presentation of FFO is consistent with FFO asnddfby the National Association of Real Estateebtment Trus
(“NAREIT"), which is calculated as follows:

« Netincome/(loss) computed in accordance with GA
« Less dividends to holders of Preferred Stock asd éxcess of Preferred Stock redemption cost @reying value;
« Less netincome attributable to noncontrolling iegts;
« Plus depreciation and amortization of real estasets;

« Less gains, or plus losses, from sales of depriecigierating properties (but excluding impairmergskes) and excluding items that
classified as extraordinary items under GA,

« Plus or minus adjustments for unconsolidated pestrips and joint ventures (to reflect funds froneigtions on the same basis); and

« Plus or minus adjustments for depreciation and fimation and gains/(losses) on sales related wodtinued operations.

In calculating FFO, the Company adds back net ire@ttributable to noncontrolling interests in thpe@ating Partnership, which 1
Company believes is consistent with standard imgystctice for REITs that operate through an UPR&tucture. The Company believes th

is important to present FFO on an as-convertedsisasce all of the Common Units not owned by thenBany are redeemable on a onedae-
basis for shares of its Common Stock.
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The Company’s FFO and FFO per share are summarizbd following table ($ in thousands, except glgsire amounts):

Three Months Ended September 3C

Nine Months Ended September 3C

2010 2009 2010 2009
Per Per Per Per
Amount Share Amount Share Amount Share Amount Share
Funds from operations:
Net income 8,77: $ 12,57: $ 60,90« $ 62,841
Net (income) attributable to noncontrolling inteees
the Operating Partnersh (36€) (591) (2,819 (3,339
Net (income)/loss attributable to noncontroll
interests in consolidated affiliat 14¢€ (24) (281) (15€)
Dividends on Preferred Sto (1,677 (1,675 (5,039 (5,039
Net income available for common stockhold 6,87¢ $ 0.1C 10,281 $ 0.14 52,770 $ 0.7¢ 54,31¢ $ 0.81
Add/(Deduct):
Depreciation and amortization of real estate as 33,83 0.44 31,861 0.4z 99,07: 1.31 96,15( 1.3¢€
(Gains) on disposition of depreciable proper (19) — (19) — (55) — (10€) —
(Gains) on disposition of investment in
unconsolidated affiliate — — — — (25,330 (0.39 — —
Net income attributable to noncontrolling intere
in the Operating Partnerst 36€ — 591 — 2,81¢ — 3,33¢ —
Unconsolidated affiliates
Depreciation and amortization of real estat
asset: 2,11¢ 0.0¢ 3,352 0.0t 8,19: 0.11 9,82t 0.14
(Gains) on disposition of depreciable
properties — — — — — — (781) (0.01
Discontinued operation
Depreciation and amortization of real estat
asset: — — 32z — 36E — 1,60¢ 0.0z
(Gains) on disposition of depreciable
properties — — — — (174 — (21,0160  (0.30)
Funds from ) _ .
Weighted average Common Shareoutstanding (1) 75,63 75,07: __ 75,53, __ 11,02
) Includes assumed conversion of all potentiallytdieitCommon Stock equivalen
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

The effects of potential changes in interest ratesdiscussed below. Our market risk discussioludes “forward-looking statementsihc
represents an estimate of possible changes iwvdhie or future earnings that would occur assunmyigothetical future movements in inte
rates. Actual future results may differ materidtym those presented.

To meet in part our lonterm liquidity requirements, we borrow funds at@nbination of fixed and variable rates. Our deltsists o
secured and unsecured lomgm financings, unsecured debt securities, loars @edit facilities, which typically bear interest fixed rate
although some loans bear interest at variable. .r&tesinterest rate risk management objectiveg@lienit the impact of interest rate change:
earnings and cash flows and to lower our overaitdwing costs. To achieve these objectives, franetto time we enter into interest rate he
contracts such as collars, swaps, caps and tredsckyagreements in order to mitigate our intemagé risk with respect to various d
instruments. We generally do not hold or issuedttEgivative contracts for trading or speculativepopses.

At September 30, 2010, we had $1,357 million okdixate debt outstanding. The estimated aggregatenfarket value of this debt
September 30, 2010 was $1,451 million. If interagés had been 100 basis points higher, the aggréajamarket value of our fixed rate det
September 30, 2010 would have been approximately8$&iillion lower. If interest rates had been 1Q&ib points lower, the aggregate
market value of our fixed rate debt at Septembe28@0 would have been approximately $58.1 milhdagher.

At September 30, 2010, we had $147.5 million ofiatde rate debt outstanding. The estimated aggeefgat market value of this debt
September 30, 2010 was $146.8 million. If the widhaverage interest rate on this variable raté ldeth been 100 basis points higher or I
at September 30, 2010, the aggregate fair markeevaf our variable rate debt at September 30, 2000ld have decreased or increase:
approximately $0.7 million.

We have no outstanding hedge contracts at Septe3oh010.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

SEC rules require us to maintain disclosure costanld procedures that are designed to ensurenfioamiation required to be disclosec
our annual and periodic reports filed with the SE@corded, processed, summarized and reportéihvtite time periods specified in the SEC’
rules and forms. As defined in Rule 1Ba(e) under the Exchange Act, disclosure controts grocedures include, without limitation, cont
and procedures designed to ensure that informagiguired to be disclosed by us is accumulated anghaunicated to management, incluc
the Company’s CEO and CFO, to allow timely decisioegarding required disclosure. The Compar@EO and CFO have concluded tha
disclosure controls and procedures of the Compaudyte Operating Partnership were each effectivbeatend of the period covered by
Quarterly Report.

SEC rules also require us to establish and mairitdgrnal control over financial reporting designted provide reasonable assurs
regarding the reliability of financial reporting dirthe preparation of financial statements for exdepurposes in accordance with gene
accepting accounting principles. As defined in RUBa415(f) under the Exchange Act, internal control ofieancial reporting includes thc
policies and procedures that:

« pertain to the maintenance of records that in regsie detail accurately and fairly reflect trangatt and dispositions of assets;

« provide reasonable assurance that transactionreeweded as necessary to permit preparation ofdiaéstatements in accordance \
GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures are bmiade only in accordance with authorizations of ngenzent and directors; a

- provide reasonable assurance regarding preventiimely detection of unauthorized acquisition, esalisposition of assets that ca
have a material effect on the financial stateme
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There were no changes in internal control ovemfaia reporting during the three months ended Sebéz 30, 2010 that materially affect
or are reasonably likely to materially affect, t@empanys internal control over financial reporting. Therere also no changes in intet
control over financial reporting during the threenths ended September 30, 2010 that materiallgtaffie or are reasonably likely to materi
affect, the Operating Partnership’s internal cdriker financial reporting.

Exhibit
Number

12.1
12.2
12.3
12.4
31.1
31.2
31.3
31.4
32.1
32.2
32.3
324
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PART Il - OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 5. EXHIBITS

Description

Statement re: Computation of Ratios of the Comg

Statement re: Computation of Ratios of the Comy

Statement re: Computation of Ratios of the Opegdfiartnershij

Statement re: Computation of Ratios of the Opega#artnershij

Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saés-Oxley Act

Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saés-Oxley Act

Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saés-Oxley Act

Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saés-Oxley Act

Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saés-Oxley Act

Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saés-Oxley Act

Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saés-Oxley Act

Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saés-Oxley Act

The following financial information from the Compgds Quarterly Report on Form 1Q-as of and for the three and r
months ended September 30, 2010 formatted in eXtenBusiness Reporting Language (XBRL): (i) Coidated Balanc
Sheets (unaudited), (ii) Consolidated Statementsiadme (unaudited), (iii) Consolidated Statemegit&quity (unaudited

(iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (unadgiitand (v) Notes to Consolidated Financial Stetem (unauditec
tagged as blocks of te»
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgéa Act of 1934, each of the registrants has dalsed this report to be signed o1
behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

HiGHWOODS PROPERTIES INC.

By: /S| TERRY L. STEVENS

Terry L. Stevens
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
By: Highwoods Properties, Inc., its sole generate

By: IS/ TERRY L. STEVENS

Terry L. Stevens
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Date: October 28, 2010



HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES AND

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO COMBINED FIXED CHARGES AND

PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS

Earnings:

Income from continuing operations before equitgamnings of unconsolidated affiliat

Fixed charge
Capitalized interes

Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated &ifiés
Total earnings

Fixed charges and Preferred Stock dividends
Contractual interest expen
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Interest expense on financing obligatic
Capitalized interes

Interest component of rental expel
Total fixed charges
Dividends on Preferred Stor

Total fixed charges and Dividends on Preferred Stdc

Ratio of earnings to fixed charge:
Ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and Didends on Preferred Stock

Exhibit 12.1

Three Months Nine Months
Ended Ended
September 30, 201 September 30, 201
$ 7,755 $ 57,87¢

24,14: 71,66

(392) (1,11%

1,21¢ 2,93¢

$ 32,72: $ 131,35
$ 22,02( $ 65,527
85¢ 2,52¢

46C 1,33(

392 1,11¢

4138 1,161

24,14: 71,66

1,677 5,031

$ 25,82( $ 76,69:
1.3¢€ 1.8:

1.27 1.71







HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES AND

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO COMBINED FIXED CHARGES AND

PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS

Earnings:
Income from continuing operations before equity in
earnings of unconsolidated affiliat
Fixed charge
Capitalized interes
Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated &ifiés

Total earnings

Fixed charges and Preferred Stock dividends
Contractual interest expen
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Interest expense on financing obligatic
Capitalized interes
Interest component of rental expel

Total fixed charges
Dividends on Preferred Stor

Total fixed charges and Dividends on Preferred Stdc

Ratio of earnings to fixed charge:

Ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and Didends

on Preferred Stock

Years Ended December 31

Exhibit 12.2

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
42,012 $  3272¢$  3701: $ 2153 $ 8,46:
93,03t 108,27: 111,47¢ 106,57¢ 110,23¢
(4,555) (8,312) (9,749 (5,002) (2,900)
4,18( 5,99/ 4,46, 7,74¢ 8,96¢

13467: $ 13868 $ 143200 $ 130,85, $ 124,76t
81,98 $  92,85¢ $  9397F $ 9363« $ 97,43
2,76( 2,71¢ 2,41¢ 2,37t 3,372
2,13( 2,91¢ 3,93( 4,16 5,032
4,55¢ 8,317 9,74: 5,00z 2,90(
1,60¢ 1,467 1,41¢ 1,40: 1,50:
93,03t 108,27: 111,47¢ 106,57¢ 110,23t
6,70¢ 9,80¢ 13,47 17,06 27,23¢
99,74: $ 11807' $ 12495' $ 12363¢ $  137,47¢

1.45 1.2¢ 1.2¢ 1.2¢ 1.1¢
1.3t 1.17 1.1F 1.0€ 0.91







HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES AND

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO COMBINED FIXED CHARGES AND

PREFERRED UNIT DISTRIBUTIONS

Earnings:
Income from continuing operations before equitgamnings of unconsolidated
affiliates
Fixed charge
Capitalized interes
Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated &ifiés

Total earnings

Fixed charges and Preferred Unit distributions:
Contractual interest expen
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Interest expense on financing obligatic
Capitalized interes

Interest component of rental expel
Total fixed charges

Distributions on Preferred Uni
Total fixed charges and Distributions on PreferredUnits

Ratio of earnings to fixed charge:
Ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and Disbutions on Preferred Units

Three Months
Ended

Exhibit 12.:

Nine Months
Ended

September 30, 201 September 30, 201

$ 7,75t $ 57,87¢
24,14: 71,66:

(392) (1,115)

1,18¢ 2,881

$ 32,68¢ $ 131,31
$ 22,020 $ 65,52’
85¢ 2,52¢

46( 1,33(

392 1,11¢

412 1,161

24, 14: 71,66

1,677 5,031

$ 25,82( $ 76,69
1.3t 1.8¢

1.27 1.71







HIGHWOODS REALTY LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES AND

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO COMBINED FIXED CHARGES AND

PREFERRED UNIT DISTRIBUTIONS

Earnings:

Income from continuing operations before equitgamnings

of unconsolidated affiliate
Fixed charge
Capitalized interes
Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated &ifiés

Total earnings

Fixed charges and Preferred Unit distributions:
Contractual interest expen
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Financing obligations interest exper
Capitalized interes
Interest component of rental expel

Total fixed charges
Preferred Unit distribution

Total fixed charges and Preferred Unit distributions

Ratio of earnings to fixed charge:
Ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and Pferred
Unit distributions

Years Ended December 31

Exhibit 12.¢

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
42,01 $  3269¢ $  37,05¢ $  21,74¢ $ 8,56¢
93,03t 108,27: 111,39° 106,54( 110,23¢
(4,555) (8,312) (9,749 (5,002) (2,900)
4,10: 5,97¢ 4,271 7,33¢ 8,51¢

13459! $ 138,63( $ 14298: $  130,62. $  124,42:
81,98 $  92,85¢ $ 9389 $ 9359 $ 97,43
2,76( 2,71¢ 2,41¢ 2,37t 3,372
2,13( 2,91¢ 3,93( 4,16 5,03:
4,55¢ 8,31¢ 9,74: 5,002 2,90(
1,60¢ 1,467 1,41¢ 1,40: 1,50z
93,03t 108,27: 111,39° 106,54( 110,23¢
6,70¢ 9,80¢ 13,47 17,06: 27,23¢
99,74: $ 11807' $ 12487: $ 123,60. $  137,47¢

1.45 1.2¢ 1.2¢ 1.2¢ 1.1¢
1.3t 1.17 1.1F 1.0€ 0.91







Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Edward J. Fritsch, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-Q of Highwoods Properties In¢

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report dogscontain any untrue statement of a material fmadbmit to state a material f
necessary to make the statements made, in ligttteotircumstances under which such statements meade, not misleading wi
respect to the period covered by this quarterlpri|

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,adher financial information included in this gteaty report, fairly present in :
material respects the financial condition, resafteperations and cash flows of the Registrantfaara for, the periods presented in
quarterly report

4. The Registrard’ other certifying officers and | are responsitge éstablishing and maintaining disclosure contesid procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢)) and internal control over financial repaogtifas defined in Exchange Act RL
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and we ha

(a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and procedurdz tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatioiatneg to the Registrant, including its consolidhtabsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this quarterly report ity preparec

(b) designed such internal control over financial répgr or caused such internal control over finah@porting to be designed uni
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurangardang the reliability of financial reporting aride preparation of financi
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Regissalisclosure controls and procedures and presémtdis report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls amutguiures, as of the end of the period covered lsy rdport based on st
evaluation; ant

(d) disclosed in this report any change inRegistrant’s internal control over financial repogtthat occurred during the Registrant’
most recent fiscal quarter that has materially ciéfeé, or is reasonably likely to materially affettte Registrans internal contre
over financial reporting

5. The Registrard’ other certifying officers and | have disclosedsdxd on our most recent evaluation of internal robmver financie
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the iAGdmmittee of Registrarg’Board of Directors (or persons performing theiajani
functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknsssethe design or operation of internal controtiofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refgmahcial information; ant

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, thatolves management or other employees who haverdfisant role in the Registrargt’
internal control over financial reportin

Date: October 28, 2010

/s/ EDWARD J. FRITSCH

Edward J. Fritsch

President and Chief Executive
Officer







Exhibit 31.Z
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Terry L. Stevens, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-Q of Highwoods Properties Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report damscontain any untrue statement of a material aadbmit to state a material f
necessary to make the statements made, in ligttteotircumstances under which such statements meade, not misleading wi
respect to the period covered by this quarterlypre

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,adher financial information included in this gteaty report, fairly present in :
material respects the financial condition, resaftsperations and cash flows of the Registrantfaaral for, the periods presented in
quarterly report

4. The Registrard’ other certifying officers and | are responsitde éstablishing and maintaining disclosure contesid procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢)) and internal control over financial repogtifas defined in Exchange Act RL
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and we ha

(a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and procedurdz tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatioiatneg to the Registrant, including its consolidhtabsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this quarterly report &ifg preparec

(b) designed such internal control over financial répgr or caused such internal control over finah@porting to be designed uni
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurangardang the reliability of financial reporting aride preparation of financi
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Regissalisclosure controls and procedures and presémtdis report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls amutguiures, as of the end of the period covered lsyrdport based on siL
evaluation; ant

(d) disclosed in this report any change inRegistrant’s internal control over financial repogtthat occurred during the Registrant’
most recent fiscal quarter that has materially céfeé, or is reasonably likely to materially affettte Registrans internal contre
over financial reporting

5. The Registrard’ other certifying officers and | have disclosedsdxd on our most recent evaluation of internal robmver financie
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the iAGdmmittee of Registrarg’Board of Directors (or persons performing theiajani
functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknsssethe design or operation of internal controtiofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refgmahcial information; ant

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, thatoiwes management or other employees who havergfisant role in the Registrargt’
internal control over financial reportin

Date: October 28, 2010

/s/ TERRY L. STEVENS

Terry L. Stevens

Senior Vice President and Chief Finant
Officer







Exhibit 31.:

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Edward J. Fritsch, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-Q of Highwoods Realty Limited Partnersh

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report dogscontain any untrue statement of a material fmadbmit to state a material f
necessary to make the statements made, in ligttteotircumstances under which such statements meade, not misleading wi
respect to the period covered by this quarterlpri|

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,adher financial information included in this gteaty report, fairly present in :
material respects the financial condition, resafteperations and cash flows of the Registrantfaara for, the periods presented in
quarterly report

4. The Registrard’ other certifying officers and | are responsitge éstablishing and maintaining disclosure contesid procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢)) and internal control over financial repaogtifas defined in Exchange Act RL
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and we ha

(a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and procedurdz tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatioiatneg to the Registrant, including its consolidhtabsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this quarterly report ity preparec

(b) designed such internal control over financial répgr or caused such internal control over finah@porting to be designed uni
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurangardang the reliability of financial reporting aride preparation of financi
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Regissalisclosure controls and procedures and presémtdis report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls amutguiures, as of the end of the period covered lsy rdport based on st
evaluation; ant

(d) disclosed in this report any change inRegistrant’s internal control over financial repogtthat occurred during the Registrant’
most recent fiscal quarter that has materially ciéfeé, or is reasonably likely to materially affettte Registrans internal contre
over financial reporting

5. The Registrard’ other certifying officers and | have disclosedsdxd on our most recent evaluation of internal robmver financie
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the iAGdmmittee of Registrarg’Board of Directors (or persons performing theiajani
functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknsssethe design or operation of internal controtiofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refgmahcial information; ant

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, thatolves management or other employees who haverdfisant role in the Registrargt’
internal control over financial reportin

Date: October 28, 2010

/s/ EDWARD J. FRITSCH

Edward J. Fritsch

President and Chief Executive Officer of the
General Partne







Exhibit 31.¢

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Terry L. Stevens, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-Q of Highwoods Realty Limited Partnersh

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report dogscontain any untrue statement of a material fmadbmit to state a material f
necessary to make the statements made, in ligttteotircumstances under which such statements meade, not misleading wi
respect to the period covered by this quarterlpri|

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,adher financial information included in this gteaty report, fairly present in :
material respects the financial condition, resafteperations and cash flows of the Registrantfaara for, the periods presented in
quarterly report

4. The Registrard’ other certifying officers and | are responsitge éstablishing and maintaining disclosure contesid procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢)) and internal control over financial repaogtifas defined in Exchange Act RL
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and we ha

(a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and procedurdz tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatioiatneg to the Registrant, including its consolidhtabsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this quarterly report ity preparec

(b) designed such internal control over financial répgr or caused such internal control over finah@porting to be designed uni
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurangardang the reliability of financial reporting aride preparation of financi
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Regissalisclosure controls and procedures and presémtdis report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls amutguiures, as of the end of the period covered lsy rdport based on st
evaluation; ant

(d) disclosed in this report any change inRegistrant’s internal control over financial repogtthat occurred during the Registrant’
most recent fiscal quarter that has materially ciéfeé, or is reasonably likely to materially affettte Registrans internal contre
over financial reporting

5. The Registrard’ other certifying officers and | have disclosedsdxd on our most recent evaluation of internal robmver financie
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the iAGdmmittee of Registrarg’Board of Directors (or persons performing theiajani
functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknsssethe design or operation of internal controtiofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refgmahcial information; ant

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, thatolves management or other employees who haverdfisant role in the Registrargt’
internal control over financial reportin

Date: October 28, 2010

/s/ TERRY L. STEVENS

Terry L. Stevens
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offickthe
General Partne







Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Quarterly Report of HighwsodProperties, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form QOfor the period endt
September 30, 2010 as filed with the Securities Bxchange Commission on the date hereof (the “R@pdr Edward J. Fritsch, President :

Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify,rpuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuad®t@b of the Sarban&3xley Act of 200z
that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand results of operations of
Company.

/s/ EDWARD J. FRITSCH

Edward J. Fritsch

President and Chief Executive
Officer

October 28, 201







Exhibit 32.z

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Quarterly Report of HighwsodProperties, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form QOfor the period endt
September 30, 2010 as filed with the Securities Bxchange Commission on the date hereof (the “R8pdy Terry L. Stevens, Senior Vi

President and Chief Financial Officer of the Comparertify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adbptersuant to § 906 of the Sarbariedey
Act of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand results of operations of
Company.

/s/ TERRY L. STEVENS

Terry L. Stevens

Senior Vice President and Chief Finant
Officer

October 28, 201







Exhibit 32.:

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Highwsdglealty Limited Partnership (the “Operating Parthig”) on Form 10Q for the perio
ended September 30, 2010 as filed with the Seearihd Exchange Commission on the date hereofR#@ort”), I, Edward J. Fritsch, Presidi

and Chief Executive Officer of Highwoods Properties., general partner of the Operating Partnetstertify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 135C
adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxleyp2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand results of operations of
Operating Partnershi

/s/ EDWARD J. FRITSCH

Edward J. Fritsch

President and Chief Executive Officer of the
General Partne

October 28, 201







Exhibit 32.¢

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Highwsdglealty Limited Partnership (the “Operating Parthig”) on Form 10Q for the perio
ended September 30, 2010 as filed with the Seesrédnd Exchange Commission on the date hereofRyeort”), I, Terry L. Stevens, Seni

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Higtwds Properties, Inc., general partner of the Qperdartnership, certify, pursuant to
U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 db#nbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand results of operations of
Operating Partnershi

/s/ TERRY L. STEVENS

Terry L. Stevens

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offickthe
General Partne

October 28, 201







